
 

 

 

Agenda for LATCo Shareholder Committee 
Wednesday, 4th February, 2026, 7.30 pm 
 

Members of LATCo Shareholder Committee 
Councillors: P Arnott, S Hawkins, G Jung, J Loudoun and T Olive  

 
Venue: Council Chamber, Blackdown House, Heathpark 
Industrial Estate, Honiton EX14 1EJ 

 

Contact: Alethea Thompson (Democratic Services Officer); 

alethea.thompson@eastdevon.gov.uk 

(or group number 01395 517546) 

Wednesday, 28 January 2026 
 
 

 
1 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 7) 

2 Apologies   

3 Declarations of interest   

 Guidance is available online to Councillors and co-opted members on making 
declarations of interest. 

 

4 Public speaking   

 Information on public speaking is available online. 
 

5 Matters of urgency   

 Information on matters of urgency is available online. 

 

6 Confidential/exempt item(s)   

 To agree any items to be dealt with after the public (including the Press) have 
been excluded.  There are no items which officers recommend should be dealt 

with in this way. 
 

7 Governance update  (Pages 8 - 54) 

8 Recruitment of Directors for East Devon Environmental Services Ltd  (Pages 55 - 

65) 

9 Project update  (Pages 66 - 74) 

 Verbal update and PowerPoint slides. 
 

 
 

 

East Devon District Council 

Blackdown House 

Border Road 
Heathpark Industrial Estate 

Honiton 

EX14 1EJ 

DX 48808 HONITON 

Tel: 01404 515616 

www.eastdevon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

page 1

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillor-conduct/councillor-reminder-for-declaring-interests/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/public-speaking/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/matters-of-urgency/


 

Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, any members of the 
public are now allowed to take photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and 

report on all public meetings (including on social media). No prior notification is needed but 
it would be helpful if you could let the democratic services team know you plan to film or 
record so that any necessary arrangements can be made to provide reasonable facilities for 

you to report on meetings. This permission does not extend to private meetings or parts of 
meetings which are not open to the public. You should take all recording and photography 

equipment with you if a public meeting moves into a session which is not open to the public.  
 
If you are recording the meeting, you are asked to act in a reasonable manner and not 

disrupt the conduct of meetings for example by using intrusive lighting, flash photography or 
asking people to repeat statements for the benefit of the recording. You may not make an 

oral commentary during the meeting. The Chair has the power to control public recording 
and/or reporting so it does not disrupt the meeting. 
 

Members of the public exercising their right to speak during Public Speaking will be 
recorded. 

 
Decision making and equalities 
 

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic 
Services Team on 01395 517546 

page 2

http://new.eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/committees-and-meetings/decision-making-and-equalities-duties/


EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Minutes of the meeting of LATCo Shareholder Committee held at Council 

Chamber, Blackdown House, Heathpark Industrial Estate, Honiton EX14 1EJ 

on 19 November 2025 

 
Attendance list at end of document 

The meeting started at 6.30 pm and ended at 8.03 pm 
 
 

11    Apologies  

 

There were no apologies.  
 

12    Declarations of Interest  

 

No declarations of interest were made.  
 

13    Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 29 October 2025 were confirmed as a correct record.  

 
14    Public Speaking  

 
No members of the public had registered to speak.  
 

15    Matters of Urgency  

 

There were no matters of urgency.  
 

16    Confidential/Exempt item(s)  

 

There was one item of confidential/exempt business conducted under Agenda Item 11.  
 

17    Shareholder Committee Governance arrangements  

 
The committee considered a report outlining arrangements for operating the committee. 

 
The committee noted that the Shareholder Committee (SHC) had been established to 

carry out necessary functions of the Council in its capacity as owner of the company East 
Devon Trading Limited, to deliver waste and recycling services on behalf of East Devon 
District Council.  

 
The committee were advised that external legal advice had been provided by Bevan 

Brittan who were preparing draft terms of reference and updates to the Council’s 
Constitution and it was anticipated that these documents would be available to the SHC 
in December.  

 
The committee also considered the role of the Portfolio Holder Group and recognised the 
important role of the group in providing oversight of the development and implementation 

of the proposals to form a LATCo and supported that the Group continued to meet 
regularly and operate until December 2026, before handing its functions to the Cabinet 

and Overview and Scrutiny committees.   
page 3

Agenda Item 1



LATCo Shareholder Committee 19 November 2025 
 

 
The committee discussed the need to provide support to committee members of the SHC 

and noted that specialist training had been sourced to support this to ensure that 
members of the SHC had the necessary skills to demonstrate high levels of governance 
of the company.   

 
The SHC supported the recommendations set out in the report, which having been 

proposed and seconded were unanimously carried. 
 
RESOLVED: 

1. That the SHC notes progress on development of Terms of Reference and proposed 
changes to the Council’s Constitution. 

2. That the SHC agree that members of the committee receive training to support their 
delivery of the role, to be provided by the end of January 2026. 

 

18    Project Management update  

 

The Project Manager, David Robertson, provided the Shareholder Committee (SHC) with 
an update on project management for the committee. 
 

The following points were presented: 
Project Control:   

• Project management structure in place, including risk register  

 

Current position:   
• Delivery of project ongoing,  

• SHC now in place and trading company created with appointment of a Managing Director 
nearing completion.  

 
Key Risks:   

• Company name required to allow set up of relevant IT systems and website. 

 

Next Steps:   
• Critical friend review underway and due to be reported back to SHC.   

• Procurement strategy being developed.   

• Financial arrangements.  

• Company structure.  

 
Workstreams: 

• Information Technology. 

• Human Resources. 

• Demobilisation of SUEZ. 

• Fleet management planning. 

• Finance. 

• Communications. 
• Procurement. 

• Company set up. 

 

The SHC thanked the Project Manager for the update.  
 
 

RESOLVED: 
That the SHC note the update on project management.  

 

page 4



LATCo Shareholder Committee 19 November 2025 
 

19    Company Governance - key tasks  

 

The Shareholder Committee (SHC) considered a report on progress in developing the 
LATCo and its governance arrangements, including: 

 
Company Incorporation:   
The SHC noted that the Local Authority Trading Company had been created and 

registered at Companies House on 7 November 2025 and would trade as East Devon 
Trading Limited.  It was noted that this name could be changed when a trading name 

was selected. 
 
Selection, appointment and training of Directors:   

The SHC were advised that the committee had powers to appoint and terminate 
appointment of the Company Directors.  Following registration of the company two senior 

officers had been appointed as Directors and would undertake those roles until 
independent Directors were appointed by the SHC.  
 

The SHC noted that the Managing Director of the LATCo (East Devon Trading Limited) 
would be both an employee of the company and a Director which was likely to be 

arranged when the successful candidate began their employment in February 2026. 
 
It was noted that following agreement at Cabinet on 1 October 2025 that arrangements 

for selection of the three non executive Directors and Finance Director would be 
proposed by the LATCo Project Team for approval by the SHC, subject to evaluation by 

a panel of officers, EDDC Directors and SHC members to evaluate potential candidates.   
 
Articles of Association and Shareholder Agreement: 

In order to set up the LATCo it was noted that the Company had been registered with  
‘off-the-shelf’ Articles, amended slightly to reflect local circumstances. The SHC 

acknowledged that those Articles would need to be further developed to ensure they 
were appropriate for the ongoing operation of the Company.  At the same time, the 
Shareholder Agreement would need to be developed to set out the powers and 

limitations of the Board of Directors and wider control processes to ensure effective 
decision making and controls. The SHC welcomed that Bevan Brittan were developing 

both documents for further review by officers before being finalised and presented to the 
SHC. 
 

Arrangements for Company Board and secretarial function: 
The SHC were advised that the Company Board of Directors would need to start 

functioning as soon as possible, to ensure that the Company could make effective 
decisions.  It would be necessary for Board meetings to be arranged through formal 
processes along with a programme of business for the year.   

 
It was noted that the Company did not currently had its own administrative function and it 
was recommended that Company Secretary services were sourced from an external 

supplier during the set up period.  The SHC welcomed that APSE had been approached 
and had offered to supply this service through a qualified solicitor with the relevant 

experience and the SHC supported that this would be provided during the first year of 
operation, including training a staff member to take over this function.  
 

Interim Procurement arrangements: 
The SHC noted that the Company would need to procure a broad range of goods and 

services in the pre-trading period.  The SHC supported that the project team develop 

page 5



LATCo Shareholder Committee 19 November 2025 
 

proposals for interim procurement policies for approval by the Company Board of 
Directors in line with the contract value thresholds set out in the report and requested 

that a delegation was put in place to approve the interim procurement process. 
  
Company Name: 

The SHC noted that the Company had been incorporated under the name East Devon 
Trading Limited.  The SHC recognised that it was important to agree a name for the 

Company to support the establishment of email accounts and the necessary branding for 
the Company.   The SHC welcomed that working with Executive Leadership Team, the 
Portfolio Holder Group, Assistant Director for Communications and the new LATCo 

Managing Director a long list of names should be developed to allow consultation with 
councillors and wider stakeholders on options for the name and branding, with a 

preferred option coming back to the SHC for approval.  The SHC recognised the need to  
 
The SHC supported the company governance arrangements set out in the report and 

having been proposed and seconded unanimously agreed the recommendations. 
 

 
RESOLVED: 

1. That the SHC notes progress on development of the company and governance 
processes and endorses the ongoing role of the Project Board in delivering this 
workstream.  

2. That the SHC supports development of Articles of Association and Shareholder 
Agreement and provides input to the drafting process.  

3. That APSE are used to provide training for the Shareholder Committee and Company 
Directors, and to provide a Company Secretary function during the start-up phase.  

4. That the SHC agree to delegate authority to the Director for Place, in consultation with the 
Chair of the SHC to approve the interim procurement process.  

5. That the SHC agree that authority is delegated to the Committee Chair to select a new 
name and trading name for the Company after consultation with the Shareholder 
Committee to establish a name with support of the majority of members, to be decided no 
later than 1st December 2025. 

 
20    Local Government Act 1972 - Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 
The Vice Chair of the SHC proposed that the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, on the basis that if they 

were present during the business to be transacted there would be a likelihood of 
disclosure of exempt information, within the meaning of Schedule 12A to the Local 

Government Act 1972. 
 
Having been seconded the motion was unanimously carried.  

 
RESOLVED: 

That the press and public be excluded from the meeting under Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972, on the basis that if they were present during the business to 
be transacted there would be a likelihood of disclosure of exempt information, within the 

meaning of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

21    Procurement of IT services through Strata  

 

The SHC considered a report on the procurement challenges, and a proposed solution, 
in making arrangements for IT services to the new LATCo.  
 

page 6



LATCo Shareholder Committee 19 November 2025 
 

The SHC noted that there was not an option for direct award under a ‘Teckal’ style 
exemption, therefore the preferred route was a direct award following issuing of formal 

Transparency Notice and Contract Award Notices, which would neutralise any potential 
challenges. 
 

Having been proposed and seconded the SHC supported the recommendations. 
 

Councillor Sam Hawkins requested that his abstention from voting be duly recorded.  
 
RESOLVED: 

1. That the SHC notes the proposal for the LATCo to make arrangements for a direct award 
of a contract to the company named in the exempt report for provision of all IT services, 
subject to procurement notices being uncontested, and agreement by the company 
named in the exempt report.  

2. That in the event that procurement notices result in third party challenge, the LATCo 
pursues a competitive procurement process for sourcing IT services.   

 
 

 

Attendance List 

Councillors present: 
P Arnott 

S Hawkins 
G Jung 
J Loudoun 

T Olive 
 

Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting) 
I Barlow 
R Collins 

 
Officers in attendance: 

Simon Davey, Director of Finance 
Tracy Hendren, Chief Executive 
David Robertson, Project Manager Recycling and Waste 

Melanie Wellman, Director of Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
Andrew Melhuish, Democratic Services Manager 

 
Councillor apologies: 
None. 

 
 
 

 
 

Chair   Date:  

 

page 7



 

Report to:  Shareholder Committee  

 

Date of Meeting 29th January 2026 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Governance update for East Devon Environmental Services Ltd 

 

Report summary: 

This report updates the Committee on activities relating to governance of the Company 
and seeks agreement to key elements, specifically for controlling the LATCo through 
updating the Articles of Association and approving the Shareholder Agreement. 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendations: 

1. The Shareholder Committee (SHC) to review and agree: 

a. The updated Articles of Association 
b. The Shareholder Agreement 

2. The Shareholder Committee to review the proposed Terms of Reference and 

a. Endorse them and propose their consideration by the Constitutional Working 
Group as changes to the Council’s Constitution 

b. Agrees to operate within the Terms of Reference until such time as the 
Constitution is amended to regularise the activities of the Committee 

 

Reason for recommendation: 

To adopt tailored articles and a shareholder agreement that the SHC have reviewed and 

which provide the required control and governance of this new venture.  
 

Officer: David Robertson, Project Manager, Streetscene  

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

 

☐ Assets and Economy  

☐ Communications and Democracy 

☐ Council, Corporate and External Engagement 

☐ Culture, Leisure, Sport and Tourism 

page 8

Agenda Item 7



☐ Environment - Nature and Climate 

☒ Environment - Operational 

☐ Finance  

☐ Place, Infrastructure and Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

There are no equalities impacts of this decision 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk; . 

Links to background information Cabinet Report July 2026 
 

Appendixes 

Appendix A: Shareholder Agreement 

Appendix B: Articles of Association 

Appendix C: Shareholder Committee terms of reference 

  

 

Link to Council Plan 

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ A supported and engaged community  

☐ Carbon neutrality and ecological recovery 

☒ Resilient economy that supports local business 

☒ Financially secure and improving quality of services 

 
 

Report in full 

1. Background 

1.1 East Devon Environmental Services Ltd (the LATCo) was formally registered as a 

company in November 2025 and is starting operations to prepare for the handover 
of service delivery in July 2026. It is currently governed by model Articles of 

Association, and the Council controls the company through its Shareholder 
Committee, which is a sub-committee of Cabinet.     

1.2 Arrangements for governance of the company were agreed by Cabinet in July 

2025.  This report sets out the details of how this will be delivered. 
 

1.3 Bevan Brittan has provided extensive legal advice to support creation of the 
company and ensure effective governance arrangements, and continues to support 
development of detailed governance and operating arrangements. The proposed 

Shareholder Agreement and updated Articles have been produced by Bevan 

page 9

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/councilplan/


Brittan, working in conjunction with officers and members of the Shareholder 
Committee.  

 

2. Shareholder Agreement  

 

2.1 The Shareholder Agreement is a key document for governance and control of the 
company. It sets out the framework for how the Council will exert its control as the 

sole owner of the company, and strategic arrangements for how the company will 
operate. The proposed Agreement is in Appendix A of this report.  

2.2 The document reflects governance arrangements agreed by Cabinet in July 2025. 
A draft was developed by Bevan Brittan and reviewed by officers within the Place 
Directorate alongside the Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer and Cllr Sam 

Hawkins. Feedback from the review process has been incorporated and the final 
version has the support of those involved in the review process.  

 

2.3 The Shareholder Committee has authority to approve the Shareholder Agreement 
and to agree future changes. The Company’s Directors, including the managing 

Director, are responsible for ensuring that it complies with the Agreement. From the 
Council side, the Executive Leadership Team and officers within the Place 

Directorate deliver the Council’s ‘owner’ function in relation to the company, 
overseen by the Shareholder Committee. It is a key function of the Committee to 
monitor the Company’s performance; the Shareholder Agreement sets out the 

framework for this to happen.  
 

2.4 Key elements of the Shareholder Agreement are 
 

2.4.1 Duty on the Company to produce an annual Business Plan aligned with the 

Council’s objectives and needs 

2.4.2 Duty on Company to produce annual and long term financial plans.  

2.4.3 Rights of the Council to exercise control over the company, specifically limiting 
its ability to usurp the functions of Directors 

2.4.4 Operation of the Company Board of Directors, including frequency of meetings 

and voting rights. 

2.4.5 Appointments to the Board of Directors and right for Council representatives to 

attend Board meetings  

2.4.6 Financing of the company, through the loan facility agreed by Council 

2.4.7 Duty on the Company to keep accurate financial records and the Council’s rights 

to see information 

2.4.8 Duties on the Company to operate key policies and procedures including 

procurement, health and safety, equalities etc 

2.4.9 Audit, fraud and prevention of bribery  

2.4.10 Dispute resolution and contract termination 

page 10



2.4.11 Matters of the Company which require the owners consent, such as appointment 
of Directors, some financial decisions and changing the nature and scope of the 

company (‘reserved matters’) 
 

3. Updated Articles of Association  

3.1 The company was registered using template Articles of Association , which enabled 
its formal creation but must be updated to reflect requirements in the Shareholder 

Agreement and wider governance needs. Bevan Brittan have developed fully 
formed Articles which have been reviewed by the Monitoring Officer and officers 

within Place Directorate. This proposed Articles are within Appendix B to this 
report.  
 

3.2 The Articles of Association set out the basic structure and governance 
arrangements for the Company, which are built on by the Shareholder Agreement. 

This includes structure of the Board, role of Directors, and issuing shares. 

 

4. Terms of reference for Shareholder Committee 

 

4.1 Bevan Brittan have been instructed to produce proposals for the terms of reference 

for the Committee. These set out its purpose, functions and operating 
arrangements, to ensure it undertakes the Council’s role as owner of the Company 
in an effective manner 

4.2 The proposed terms of reference are attached in Appendix C  

 

Financial implications:  

The documents presented have been prepared by Bevan Brittian and appear 

comprehensive covering areas expected and required.  The approval of an annual 
business plan and budget falls to Council which is key financial safeguard, along with 
monitoring arrangements through the year. 

Legal implications: 

The Committee are being asked to approve the Articles of Association, Shareholders 

Agreement and Terms of Reference for the Committee. All three documents have been 
produced by Bevan Brittan. The first two documents will be subject to approval of the 
Company and the Terms of Reference will need to go to the Constitutional Working Group 

and then Full Council for final approval.  

 

  

page 11



Appendix A: Shareholder Agreement 

  

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Dated 2026 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL  
 

EAST DEVON ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES LIMITED  

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

SHAREHOLDER'S AGREEMENT 
in relation to EAST DEVON ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 

LIMITED 

 

 

page 12



 

 

 

Contents 

Item Page 

 

PARTIES   

INTRODUCTION   

AGREED TERMS   

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION   

2 BUSINESS AND BUSINESS PLAN III 

3 OWNER'S ROLE IV 

4 CONDUCT OF THE COMPANY'S AFFAIRS  V 

5 BOARD OF DIRECTORS VII 

6 FINANCE FOR THE COMPANY VIII 

7 MONITORING, ACCOUNTING AND ACCESS TO OTHER INFORMATION VIII 

8 PROCUREMENT IX 

9 AUDIT AND FRAUD IX 

10 POLICIES AND PROCEDURES X 

11 PREVENTION OF BRIBERY X 

12 DISPUTE RESOLUTION XI 

13 TERMINATION XII 

14 CONFIDENTIALITY, FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND DATA PROTECTION  XII 

15 NO PARTNERSHIP XIII 

16 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999  XIII 

17 COSTS OF THIS AGREEMENT XIII 

18 WAIVER XIII 

19 VARIATION XIII 

20 INVALIDITY XIII 

21 ENTIRE AGREEMENT XIV 

22 STATUS OF THIS AGREEMENT XIV 

23 CONSENTS XIV 

24 COMMUNICATIONS XIV 

25 COUNTERPARTS XV 

26 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION XV 

SCHEDULE 1 - OWNER CONSENT MATTERS XVI 

  

 
 

page 13



 

 

MEMBER'S AGREEMENT dated     2026 
 

PARTIES 

(1) EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL of  Blackdown House, Border Road, Honiton EX14 1EJ (the 

“Owner”) 

(2) EAST DEVON ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES LIMITED a company incorporated in England and 
Wales with company number 16840236 whose registered of f ice is at Blackdown House, Border Road, 

Honiton, United Kingdom, EX14 1EJ (the “Company”) 

INTRODUCTION 

(A) The Company was incorporated on 7 November 2025 and, as at the date of  this Agreement, the Owner 

is the sole shareholder of  the Company.  

(B) The Parties intend that the Company is operated so as to be and to remain compliant with the Vertical 

Arrangement Exemption (as def ined below). 

(C) The Company has been established for the purpose of  performing the Business (as def ined below).  

(D) This Agreement sets out the terms upon which the Owner will participate in the Company as its sole 
shareholder and the terms upon which the Owner will retain decisive inf luence over both the strategic 

objectives and the signif icant decisions of  the Company.  

AGREED TERMS 

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement: 

 Articles means the articles of  association of  the Company 

 Business means the business of  the Company as set out in clause 2 

 Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which the banks in the City of  

London are open for business 

 CA2006 means the Companies Act 2006 

 Data Protection Legislation means all applicable legislation and regulatory requirements in force 

f rom time to time in the UK relating to privacy and the protection and processing of  personal data, 
including, without limitation (i) any data protection legislation f rom time to time in force in the UK 
including the UK GDPR, the Data Protection Act 2018, or any successor legislation, as well as (ii) to 

the extent it applies, the General Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/679) 

 Director means a director of  the Company 

 Environmental Information Regulations means the Environmental Regulations 2004 

 Financial Year means each accounting reference period of  twelve (12) months ending on 31 March 

or such date, or longer or shorter period as the Owner shall f rom time to time determine  

 Finance Director means an executive Director with primary responsibility for the f inancial strategy 

and f inancial oversight of  the Company in line with their employment contract and employment law 

 FOIA means the Freedom of  Information Act 2000 

page 14



 

 

 Independent Director means a Director who is neither a member or of f icer of  nor otherwise  

associated with the Owner and who shall be a non-executive  

 Information has the meaning given to it under section 84 of  the FOIA 

 Loan Agreement means the revolving credit facility entered between the Owner and the Company 

on or around the date of  this Agreement 

 Managing Director means an executive Director with primary responsibility for operation of  the 

Company in accordance with their employment contract and applicable law 

 Objectives has the meaning given to it under clause 2.2 

 Observer means such person as nominated in writing by the Owner to the Company f rom to time to 

act as an Observer on the board 

 Owner Consent means the prior written consent of  the Owner  

 Owner Consent Matters means those matters listed in Schedule 1 

 Owner Representative means the portfolio holder with responsibility at the Owner for the Company 
or such other member of  the Shareholder Committee or senior of ficer of the Owner as may be notif ied 

to the Company in writing f rom time to time 

 Procurement Code of Practice means the procurement policy adopted by the Company as amended  

f rom time to time 

 Prohibited Act means any of  the following acts: 

(i) to directly or indirectly of fer, promise or give any person working for or engaged by the Owner 

a f inancial or other advantage to: 

(i) induce that person to perform improperly a relevant function or activity; or  

(ii) reward that person for improper performance of  a relevant function or activity;  

(ii) to directly or indirectly request, agree to receive or accept any f inancial or other advantage as 

an inducement or a reward for improper performance of  a relevant function or activity in 

connection with this Agreement; 

(iii) committing any of fence: 

(i) under the Bribery Act 2010; 

(ii) under legislation creating of fences concerning f raudulent acts;  

(iii) at common law concerning f raudulent acts relating to this Agreement or any 

other contract with the Owner; or 

(iv) defrauding, attempting to defraud or conspiring to defraud the Owner.  

 Remuneration Policy means a policy adopted by the Company (following receipt of Owner Consent) 

in relation to the provision of  remuneration (including salary, bonus, the provision of  benef its -in-kind 

or otherwise) for employees, of f icers and consultants 

 Request for Information has the meaning set out in the FOIA or any apparent request for information 

made under the FOIA 

page 15



 

 

 Shareholder Committee means the shareholder committee formed under that name in accordance 

with the constitution of  the Owner 

 Subsidiary has the meaning given in the CA2006 

 UK GDPR has the meaning as set out in Section 3(10) of  the DPA 2018, supplemented by Section 

205(4) of  the Data Protection Act 2018; 

 United Kingdom means the geographical area of  the United Kingdom of  Great Britain and Northern 

Ireland as at the date of  this Agreement 

 Vertical Arrangement Exemption means the exemption for “vertical arrangements” as def ined within 

paragraph 2 of  Schedule 2 to the Procurement Act 2023 

1.2 A reference to a statutory provision includes a reference to:  

1.2.1 a statutory amendment, consolidation or re-enactment (whether before or af ter the date of  

this Agreement); 

1.2.2 statutory instruments or subordinate legislation (as def ined in section 21(1) of  the 
Interpretation Act 1978) or orders made under the statutory provision (whether made before 

or af ter the date of  this Agreement); and 

1.2.3 statutory provisions of  which the statutory provision is an amendment, consolidation or re-

enactment. 

1.3 Reference to: 

1.3.1 a person includes a legal or natural person, partnership, trust, company, government or 

local authority department or other body (whether corporate or unincorporate);  

1.3.2 a statutory or regulatory body shall include its successors and any substituted body;  

1.3.3 an individual includes, where appropriate, his personal representatives;  

1.3.4 the singular includes the plural and vice versa; and  

1.3.5 one gender includes all genders. 

1.4 Unless otherwise stated, a reference to a clause or Schedule is a reference to a clause of  or schedule 

to this Agreement and a reference to this Agreement includes its Schedules.  

1.5 Clause headings in this Agreement are for ease of  reference only and do not af fect its construction.  

1.6 In construing this Agreement the so-called ejusdem generis rule does not apply and accordingly the 
interpretation of  general words shall not be restricted by words indicating a particular class or particular 

examples. 

1.7 For the purposes of  this Agreement Party means a party to this Agreement and reference to Parties 

shall be to all or more than one of  them as applicable.  

1.8 A reference to writing or written includes email but not fax. 

1.9 A reference to any agreement or document (or any provision of  it) referred to in the Articles is a 
reference to that agreement or document (or the relevant provision of  it) as varied, amended or 

supplemented (in each case, other than in breach of  the provisions of  that agreement or document) 

f rom time to time. 

page 16



 

 

1.10 Any words following the terms including, include, in particular, for example or any similar 
expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of  the words, description, 

def inition, phrase or term preceding those terms. 

1.11 A reference to an amendment includes a novation, re-enactment, supplement or variation (and  

amended shall be construed accordingly). 

1.12 A reference to determines or determined means, unless the contrary is indicated, a determination 

made at the absolute discretion of  the person making it.  

2 BUSINESS AND BUSINESS PLAN 

2.1 The business (Business) of  the Company shall be (in accordance with the Objectives) to:  

2.1.1 collect and dispose of  waste on behalf  of  the Owner;  

2.1.2 dispose of  recyclable materials; 

2.1.3 provide waste management services to the Owner;  

2.1.4 provide street cleansing, grounds maintenance and other environmental  services to the 

Owner;   

2.1.5 to satisfy on its behalf , the Owner’s duties in respect of  the above pursuant to applicable 
laws (including but not limited to the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the 

Environment Act 2020 (Simpler recycling)); and 

2.1.6 to provide such other services as may be required by the Owner f rom time to time as 

notif ied by the Owner in writing, 

together with any activities reasonably incidental to the above, in each case in accordance with the 

prevailing Business Plan. 

2.2 The objectives (Objectives) of  the Company shall be: 

2.2.1 To operate in ways which support the Owner’s wider missions and values;  

2.2.2 To reduce the direct environmental impact of  operations and to improve indirect  
environmental impacts of  households and businesses within the boundary of  East Devon 
District Council or such area as notif ied to the Company by the Owner in writing f rom time 

to time; 

2.2.3 To support local economic development and contribute local value;  

2.2.4 To plan and deliver services which are aligned with changing local needs and national 

waste policy; 

2.2.5 To support delivery of  the Owner’s environmental objectives in relation to the services 
provided including climate change, biodiversity, resource use and national waste policy; 

and to manage its operational resources in ways which reduce its own environmental 

impacts; and  

2.2.6 To provide an ef f icient and ef fective business model which can be expanded to new 

services, and adopted by near neighbours and future unitary authorities.  

2.3 The Parties intend that the Company shall at all times be compliant with the Vertical Arrangement 

Exemption.     

2.4 The Company shall prepare in respect of  each Financial Year a draf t Business Plan to include:  

page 17



 

 

2.4.1 an overview of  the activity planned for:  

(a) the following year including summary key operational delivery objectives and  

f inancial objectives;  

(b) the following four years at a higher level than set out in clause 2.4.1(a),   

and how all planned activity furthers the Company’s Objectives;  

2.4.2 an annual operating revenue plan and capital expenditure requirements (including cashf low 

planning and details of  funding sources); 

2.4.3 an annual balance sheet forecast; 

2.4.4 an annual forecast prof it and loss account; 

2.4.5 a minimum f ive year medium term f inancial strategy plan to include (amongst other items) 
all proposed investments, borrowings and new business of  the Company, market analysis, 

and risk management; 

2.4.6 a plan for the use of  any surpluses made in a Financial Year and during the medium-term 
planning time horizon, and the making of  any distribution of  profit subject to the provisions 

of  the Companies Act 2006; and 

2.4.7 such other content the Owner may require f rom time to time and notify to the Company in 

writing. 

2.5 The Company shall adopt the f irst draf t Business Plan by no later than 1 July 2026. Thereaf ter, each 

draf t Business Plan for the Company for a given Financial Year shall be:  

2.5.1 prepared by the Board and circulated by the Board to the Owner in draf t form by no later 

than 1 October each year; and  

2.5.2 considered by the Owner and the Owner shall as soon as possible and in any event within 

two (2) months of  the date of  receipt of  the draf t Business Plan f rom the Board either:  

(a) if  thought f it, approve the draf t Business Plan; or 

(b) if  the Owner has questions or requires changes to the draf t Business Plan notify the 
Board of  these in writing and the Board shall promptly respond in writing (where 

questions have been asked of  it) and shall re-present the updated draf t Business 
Plan for Owner consideration and approval or rejection (again pursuant to clause 

2.5.2). 

2.6 Upon the draf t Business Plan being approved, it shall (f rom the date on which the draf t Business Plan 
is intended to apply) become the Business Plan in place of  the previous Business Plan and until such 

draf t Business Plan is approved the most recently approved Business Plan shall continue to apply.  

2.7 The Company may present an updated draf t Business Plan at any time, together with an explanation 
as to why such an in-year amendment is being requested, which draf t shall be considered pursuant to 

clause 2.5.2 as though it were an annual draf t Business Plan.  

2.8 Once a Business Plan has been approved it shall be the approved Business Plan for the Company, in 

accordance with which the Company covenants to carry on the Business.  

3 OWNER'S ROLE  

page 18



 

 

3.1 The Owner will monitor and control the Business and af fairs of  the Company through the Owner 
Consent Matters, through receiving periodic reports, through its Directors and through ad hoc 

information requests.  

3.2 The Owner shall be permitted to exercise its rights in relation to the Company through any means it 
sees f it, including through any committee established for such purposes, and any reference to the 

Owner in this Agreement shall be construed as a reference to the Owner and / or any such committee 

as appropriate.   

3.3 The Owner: 

3.3.1 shall have unlimited, unrestricted and prompt access to any Company information and 

documents requested pursuant to this Agreement; 

3.3.2 will not usurp the functions of  the Directors but will monitor the activities of  the Company to 

ensure that they are acceptable and accountable to the Owner as ultimate owner of  the 

Company; and 

3.3.3 may, in addition to those matters requiring Owner Consent: 

(a) make recommendations f rom time to time to the Directors; and/or  

(b) give directions by notice in writing f rom time to time to the Directors.  

3.4 Any notice to or f rom the Owner shall be sent to or f rom the Owner Representative.  Where a consent 

or approval is expressed in this Agreement to be required of  the Owner (including Owner Consent), it 
shall be given by the Owner Representative.  Such consent or approval shall be given in writing in 
advance of  the decision or matter requiring consent or approval and the Owner shall use its reasonable 

endeavours to communicate any such decision, consent or approval (including any decision not to 
give consent or approval) to the Company without unnecessary delay and in any event within a period 
of  40 Business Days f rom receipt of  the request provided that the Owner shall not be deemed to have 

made a decision or given its consent or approval by virtue of  the fac t that it has not communicated the 
same within that time limit.  Where the Company requires the Owner to make any decision or provide 
any consent or approval, the Company shall provide such material information as the Owner may 

require to enable it to consider the decision, consent or approval in question. 

3.5 Once a consent or approval is given in accordance with clause 3.4 then, to the extent a special or an 
ordinary resolution is required pursuant to the CA2006 or otherwise, and the form of  consent or 

approval doesn't already take the form of  such a special or ordinary resolution, the Company shall 
prepare and circulate to the Owner a draf t resolution for consideration and, if  thought f it, approval by 
the Owner.  The Owner shall approve any resolution which is in line with a consent or approval 

previously given.   

3.6 The Company shall ensure that the Directors and and/or any employees of  the Company as requested  
by the Owner shall attend such meetings or parts of  meeting(s) of  the Owner as the Owner may require 

and shall answer questions put by the Owner and provide information regarding the activities of  the 

Company as reasonably requested.   

4 CONDUCT OF THE COMPANY'S AFFAIRS 

4.1 Meetings of  the Directors shall be held no less than four times in every year and at not more than three 

monthly intervals.   

4.2 The quorum for the transaction of  business at a meeting of  Directors is:  

4.2.1 two Independent Directors (or, if  less, such number of  Independent Directors as are then 

in of f ice); and 

4.2.2 where there is at least one executive Director in of f ice, one executive Director.  

page 19



 

 

4.3 With the exception of  the Owner Consent Matters, the management of  the Company shall be vested 
in the Directors.  The Company shall ensure that no Owner Consent Matters shall be carried out 

without Owner Consent. 

4.4 The Owner or, where the Owner has not exercised its rights to do so, the Directors, shall appoint an  
Independent Director to chair the meetings of  Directors. If  the numbers of  votes for and against a 

proposal are equal, the chair shall have a casting vote. 

4.5 The Directors may, with Owner Consent, appoint a chief  executive/managing director on such terms 
as they may think f it who shall be responsible for the day to day management of  the Business within 

the terms of  the business plan and budget then in force and this Agreement, and perform such dut ies 
as may be delegated to them by the Directors.  The Directors may also remove such managing 
director, and appoint a replacement, in each case on such terms as they may think f it, providing that 

no appointment or removal shall be made without Owner Consent.   

4.6 The Directors will determine the general policies of  the Company and the manner in which the 

Business is to be carried out, subject to: 

4.6.1 the business plan and the budget then in force; 

4.6.2 those matters requiring Owner Consent; and 

4.6.3 any other express provisions of  this Agreement.   

4.7 In particular, but without limitation, the Directors shall exercise all voting rights and other powers of  
control available to them in relation to the Company so as to procure (in so far as they are able in the 
exercise of  such rights and power) that, at all times during the term of  this Agreement, the Company 

shall: 

4.7.1 comply with the Procurement Act 2023; 

4.7.2 comply with the Procurement Code of  Practice adopted f rom time to time; 

4.7.3 carry on and conduct the Business and af fairs in a proper and ef f icient manner, for its own 
benef it and in accordance with the business plan and budget and good business practices; 

and 

4.7.4 transact all its business on arm's length terms. 

4.8 The Company shall not carry out any activity which would render the Owner's membership of  the 
Company unlawful provided that where a proposed change of  law would render such membership  

unlawful the Owner will use its reasonable endeavours to take such steps as are necessary to allow it 

to continue lawfully to be a shareholder of  the Company. 

4.9 The Company will, if  it requires any approval, consent or licence for the carrying on of  its Business in 

the manner in which it is f rom time to time carried on or proposed to be carried on, obtain and maintain 

the same in full force and ef fect. 

4.10 The Company shall permit any Director to discuss the af fairs, f inances and accounts of  the Company 

and its Subsidiaries with the Owner’s designated of f icers and executives at any time.  All books, 
records, accounts and documents relating to the Business and the af fairs of  the Company shall be 
open to the inspection of  any such person, who shall be entitled to make any copies thereof  as he or 

she deems appropriate to keep the Owner properly informed about the Business and af fairs of  the 
Company or to protect its interests as Owner.  Any information secured as a consequence of  such 
discussions and inspections shall be kept conf idential by the Owner and its designated of f icers and 

executives in accordance with the terms of  clause 14. 

4.11 The Company agrees with the Owner that it will maintain ef fective and appropriate control systems in 
relation to the f inancial, accounting and record-keeping functions of  the Company and will generally 

keep the Owner informed of  the progress of  the Business and af fairs and in particular will procure that 

page 20



 

 

the Owner is given such information and such access to the of f icers, employees and premises of  the 
Company as it may reasonably require for the purposes of  enabling it to monitor its investment and 

interest in the Company. 

4.12 The Company shall not breach nor cause the Owner to be in breach of :  

4.12.1 the Local Authorities (Companies) Order 1995; nor 

4.12.2 the Procurement Act 2023. 

5 BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

5.1 The appointment and removal of  any Director or Observer shall be an Owner Consent Matter.  

5.2 The Owner may appoint: 

5.2.1 up to 4 Independent Directors provided that, where there is no Finance Director in of f ice at 

least 1 of  whom shall have relevant f inancial experience;  

5.2.2 up to 2 executive directors being the Managing Director and Finance Director; and 

5.2.3 up to three Observers 

5.3 The Parties shall procure that each Independent Director is appointed for a term of  up to three years  

following which an Independent Director may be re-appointed for a further term of  up to three years.  
The Independent Directors shall each of fer their resignation annually and the parties shall use their 
reasonable endeavours to avoid a situation in which the term of  appointment for each Independent 

Director expires concurrently. Upon the expiry of  this second term, the Independent Director shall not 

be permitted to hold of f ice as a Director for a period of  one year.    

5.4 The appointment or termination of  each Director, the position of  Chair (who shall be one of  the 

Independent Directors (subject to ad hoc appointments in absence in accordance with clause 4.4) and 
the Observers shall be made by the Owner in accordance with clause 5.7. The Chair shall have a 

casting vote. 

5.5 At any time that the position(s) of  Independent Director(s) or Managing Director or Finance Director 
is/ are vacant or at the request of  the Owner, the Board shall promptly make written recommendations 
to the Owner of  potential appointees, and the Owner shall notify the Board in writing within thirty (30) 

Business Days of  receiving the recommendation (i) if  it requires additional recommendations f rom the 
Board or (ii) of  the appointment pursuant to clause 5.7 (which for the avoidance of  doubt may be a 

third party or a potential appointee recommended by the Board).  

5.6 The Owner shall notify the Company of  the identity of  the Observers f rom time to time in accordance 

with clause 5.7 (without the need for a Board recommendation). 

5.7 Any appointments or terminations made by the Owner under this clause shall be ef fected by the Owner 

by giving notice in writing to the Company and the appointment shall be ef fective on the date on which 

the notice f rom the Owner is received by the Company or on any such later date specif ied in the notice. 

5.8 On an annual basis the Company shall review the composition and membership of  the Board in light 

of  the Business Plan, with a view to whether it has the right mix of  skills and experience to make 
suf f iciently robust decisions in relation to those plans (Board Review), and shall detail how it intends 
to cover any gaps in skills and/ or experience which it identif ies and shall provide the Owner with a 

written copy of  the same. Where the suggestions in a Board Review include appointing additional 
Directors or replacing Directors, the Board shall make relevant recommendations for the post(s) (in 

accordance with clause 5.5).  

5.9 Once in every two years (or such other period as the Owner may notify in writing f rom time to time) 
the Company shall arrange for an external review of  the composition of  the Board, the governance of  

page 21



 

 

the Company and any required training (and such other matters as the Owner may notify in writing  

f rom time to time). 

5.10 All Directors shall be appointed on terms to be approved by the Owner (pursuant to the Owner Consent  

Matter at Schedule 1, paragraph 6). 

5.11 The Board may appoint a company secretary (or a company to provide such services) f rom time to 

time. Whilst there is no company secretary the Managing Director shall be responsible for this role.  

5.12 The Company shall provide each Director with a summary of  Director's duties in relation to the 

Company and a relevant induction and training (as required).  

6 FINANCE FOR THE COMPANY 

6.1 The Owner and Company have entered the Loan Agreement, pursuant to which the Owner shall 
advance to the Company sums in aggregate of  up to £2.8m or such other sums as may be agreed 

f rom time to time. Having been repaid any balance may then be drawn down ag ain, in accordance 

with the terms of  the Loan Agreement.  

6.2 If  the Company requires additional capital:   

6.2.1 the Company may request such capital f rom the Owner provided that the Owner shall be 
permitted to provide such capital in any form it sees f it (including in the form of  a loan) and 
the Owner not be obliged to provide any guarantee or security in respect of  any 

indebtedness of  the Company or to put up the f inance concerned; and   

6.2.2 if  the Owner is not providing that additional capital, the Company shall (subject to having  
received relevant Owner Consent either under an approved Business Plan or otherwise) 

endeavour to obtain it f rom a third party lender on the best terms which could reasonably  
be expected to be obtained in the open market provided that the Owner shall not be obliged 

to provide any guarantee or security in respect of  any indebtedness of  the Company.  

7 MONITORING, ACCOUNTING AND ACCESS TO OTHER INFORMATION 

7.1 The Directors shall procure that the Company shall at all times maintain accurate and complete 
accounting and other f inancial records including true and complete entries of  all its dealings and 

transactions of  and in relation to its Business. 

7.2 The Company shall supply the Owner with the f inancial and other information necessary to keep the 
Owner informed about how ef fectively the Business is performing and to enable the Owner to comply 

with its reporting and other obligations arising f rom time to time.  In particular, the Company shall 

supply the Owner with:   

7.2.1 on a monthly basis to be received within f ive Business Days of  the end of  the month to 

which the management accounts relate. monthly management accounts of  the Company 

which shall include: 

(a) prof it and loss, balance sheet and cash f low position;  

(b) cumulative management accounts for the Financial Year;  

(c) such information that would allow the Owner to assess performance against any loan 

agreements; and 

(d) such f inancial information as the Owner may reasonably request.  

7.2.2 on a quarterly basis (to be received within one month of  quarter end) a report setting out 
progress against relevant timelines and key performance milestones in the Business Plan 

to include: 

page 22



 

 

(a) reconciliation between expenditure against budget; and  

(b) loan account. 

7.2.3 on an ad-hoc basis: 

(a) notify the Owner of  any material changes that would impact on f inancial performance 

and/or timely delivery of  the Business Plan; 

(b) minutes of  all board meetings within twenty (20) Business Days af ter the relevant  

meeting to which they relate; and 

(c) any other information reasonably required by the Owner f rom time to time, as notif ied 

to the Company in writing by the Owner.  

7.2.4 The Company shall immediately notify the Owner of  any legal action (potential, threatened 
or actual) of  which it becomes aware which has been commenced by or against the 

Company.   

7.3 The accounts of  the Company shall be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies of  the 

Owner.   

7.4 The Owner and its authorised representatives shall have the right during the standard working hours  
of  the Owner (as prescribed by the Owner’s policies f rom time to time), on giving to the Company 
reasonable advance notice, to inspect the books and records  of  the Company f rom time to time and 

to be supplied with all information in such form as it or they may reasonably require to keep the Owner 
properly informed about the business and af fairs of  the Company and shall have the right to take 

copies of  any such books and records or parts thereof .  

8 PROCUREMENT 

8.1 The Company shall adopt and maintain a compliant Procurement Code of  Practice in accordance with 
requirements for public bodies under the Procurement Act 2023, and shall retain records of  its 

procurement decisions in accordance with Section 98 of  the Procurement Act 2023. The Company 
shall also retain a contracts register into which every contract entered into with an aggregate value 
which is greater than £30,000 or such other threshold as may be communicated by the Owner f rom 

time to time shall be recorded. Copies of  which shall be provided to the Owner on written demand.  

8.2 All procurement carried out by the Company shall be in accordance with the Procurement Code of  

Practice in force f rom time-to-time. 

9 AUDIT AND FRAUD 

9.1 The Company shall at all material times have auditors appointed (noting that this is an Owner Consent  

Matter). 

9.2 The Company shall operate in accordance with and comply (where applicable) with the Owner’s  
guidance, policies, codes, standards and practices in respect of  audit and f raud in place f rom time to 

time.  

9.3 The Company shall co-operate with any Owner representative and/ or auditor and/ or other third party 

appointed by the Owner in relation to auditing activities, which shall include but not be limited to:  

9.3.1 providing access to the Company’s premises and of f icers and employees;  

9.3.2 providing access to and copies of  all books, records or documents (both hardcopy and  

electronic);  

9.3.3 promptly and fully answering any queries asked of  it,  

page 23



 

 

in all instances whether or not prior notice has been provided.  

10 POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

10.1 In respect of  policies and procedures of  the Company (Policies and Procedures): 

10.1.1 the Company shall adopt the Policies and Procedures that are relevant and required for its 
operational circumstances and that enable it to act legally, ef f iciently and appropriately as 

a subsidiary of  a local authority, including, but not limited to:  

(a) an anti-collusion or counter f raud, bribery and corruption or anti-bribery policy; 

(b) a health and safety policy; 

(c) a conf lict of  interest policy; 

(d) an equalities policy; 

(e) a modern slavery policy; and 

(f ) a Procurement Code of  Practice,  

and in the absence of  any such Policies and Procedures, the Company shall adopt the 
relevant Policies and Procedures (or the nearest equivalent) of  the Owner f rom time to 

time; 

10.1.2 Policies and Procedures shall be fully documented and include planned dates for review 

and re-approval; 

10.1.3 the Policies and Procedures shall be subject to an internal audit and audit by the Owner 

when requested by the Owner.  

11 PREVENTION OF BRIBERY 

11.1 The Company:  

11.1.1 shall not, and shall procure that any Director, of f icer, employee, adviser or representative 

of  any of  them shall not, in connection with this Agreement commit a Prohibited Act;  

11.1.2 warrants, represents and undertakes that it is not aware of  any f inancial or other advantage 
being given to (i) any person working for or engaged by the Owner or (ii) any elected  
member of  the Owner, or that an agreement has been reached to that ef fect, in connection 

with the execution of  this Agreement, excluding any arrangement of  which full details have 

been disclosed in writing to the Owner before execution of  this Agreement;  

11.1.3 shall, if  requested, provide the Owner with any reasonable assistance, at the Owner’s  

reasonable cost, to enable the Owner to perform any activity required by any relevant 
government or agency in any relevant jurisdiction for the purpose of  compliance with the 

Bribery Act 2010; and 

11.1.4 within f ive (5) Business Days of  the date of  this Agreement, and annually thereaf ter, certify 
to the Owner in writing (such certif ication to be signed by an of ficer of  such company) 
compliance with this clause 11 by such company and all persons associated with it or other 

persons who are supplying goods or services in connection with this Agreement.  Such 
company shall provide such supporting evidence of  compliance as the Owner may 

reasonably request.  

page 24



 

 

11.2 The Company shall have an anti-bribery policy (which shall be disclosed to the Owner) to prevent any 
of  its Directors, of f icers, employees, advisers or representatives of  the company f rom committing a 

Prohibited Act and shall enforce it where appropriate.  

11.3 The Company shall ensure that the conf licts of  interest policy (the approval of  which is a Reserved  

Matter) is appropriately enacted. 

11.4 If  any breach of  clause 11.1 is suspected or known, the Company must notify the Owner immediately.  

11.5 If  the Company notif ies the Owner that it suspects or knows that there may be a breach of  clause 11.1,  
the Company must respond promptly to the Owner’s enquiries, co -operate with any investigation, and 

allow the Owner to audit books, records and any other relevant documentation.  

11.6 The Owner may terminate this Agreement in respect of  the Company or any other agreement with the 
Company by written notice with immediate ef fect if  the Company or any Director, of f icer, employee, 

adviser or representative of  the Company (in all cases whether or not acting with such Company's 

knowledge) breaches clause 11.1.    

11.7 Any notice of  termination under clause 11.6 must specify: 

11.7.1 the nature of  the Prohibited Act; 

11.7.2 the identity of  the party whom the Owner believes has committed the Prohibited Act; and  

11.7.3 the date on which this Agreement shall terminate in respect of  the Company.  

11.8 Any dispute relating to: 

11.8.1 the interpretation of  this clause 10; or 

11.8.2 the amount or value of  any gif t, consideration or commission;  

shall be determined by the Owner and its decision shall be f inal and conclusive.  

11.9 Any termination under clause 11.6 shall be without prejudice to any right or remedy which has already 

accrued or subsequently accrues to the Owner. 

12 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

12.1 In the event of  any disagreement or dispute arising between the parties in connection with this 
Agreement (a Dispute), the parties shall use all reasonable endeavours to resolve the matter on an 

amicable basis. If  one party serves formal written notice on one or more of  the others that a Dispute 
has arisen and the parties are unable to resolve the Dispute within a perio d of  twenty (20) Business 
Days f rom the service of  such notice, then the Dispute shall be referred for resolution to an 

Independent Director and a senior of f icer nominated by the Owner in accordance with clause 12.2. 

12.2 The parties shall attempt to resolve the Dispute within the twenty (20) Business Days af ter the date of  

the notice given under clause 12.1.  

12.3 If  the Dispute cannot be resolved in accordance with clause 12.2 then an independent mediator (to be 
agreed by both parties) shall be appointed to attempt resolution of  the Dispute within twenty (20) 

Business Days. If  the Dispute still cannot be resolved within that period then:  

12.3.1 the Owner may permit additional time for the parties to attempt to reach a resolution; or 

12.3.2 the Owner shall unilaterally determine the Dispute taking into account the mediator’s report 

where the Owner considers it appropriate to do so. 

Any decision of  the Owner in accordance with this clause 12.3 shall be f inal. 

page 25



 

 

13 TERMINATION 

13.1 This Agreement shall terminate upon service of  written notice by the Owner on the Company: 

13.1.1 the making of  an order or the passing of  an ef fective resolution (in accordance with the 

terms of  this Agreement) for the liquidation of  the Company; or 

13.1.2 the Company ceasing to carry on its Business. 

13.2 the written agreement of  the Parties in accordance with the terms agreed; or 

13.3 upon the Owner giving not less than three months’ written notice of  the date on which this Agreement 

will terminate. 

14 CONFIDENTIALITY, FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND DATA PROTECTION 

14.1 Each Party undertakes that it shall not at any time disclose to any person any conf idential information 
concerning the business, af fairs, customers, clients or suppliers of the other Party except as permitted 

by clause 14.2. 

14.2 Each Party may disclose the other Party's conf idential information:  

14.2.1 to its employees, of f icers, representatives or advisers who need to have such information 

for the purposes of  carrying out the Party's obligations under this Agreement.  Each Party 
shall ensure that its employees, of f icers, representatives or advisers to whom it discloses 

the other Party's conf idential information comply with this clause 14; or 

14.2.2 as may be required by law, court order or any governmental or regulatory authority.  

14.3 Each Party acknowledges that the other Party is or may be subject to the requirements of  the FOIA 
and the Environmental Information Regulations, and shall facilitate the other Party's compliance with 

its Information disclosure requirements pursuant to and in the manner provided for in clauses 14.4-

14.7. 

14.4 If  either Party (the Recipient) receives a Request for Information in relation to Information that the 

other Party is holding and which the Recipient does not hold itself , the Recipient shall within 6 Business 

Days of  receiving a Request for Information: 

14.4.1 respond to the Request for Information explaining that that the other Party shall be 

responding within the required timeframe; and 

14.4.2 refer the Request for Information to the other Party explaining that the other Party is holding 
the relevant Information and that the Request for Information must be met by the other 

Party within the required timeframe. 

14.5 The Recipient shall provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the other Party to 
enable the other Party to respond to the Request for Information within the time for compliance set out 

in Section 10 of  the FOIA or Regulation 5 of  the Environmental Information Regulations. 

14.6 The Parties acknowledge that (notwithstanding the provisions of  clause 14.1) a Recipient may, acting 
in accordance with the Freedom of  Information Code of  Practice 2018 and the Regulation 16 Code of  

Practice on the discharge of  the obligations of  public authorities under the EIR (as appropriate) 

disclose Information concerning the other Party: 

14.6.1 in certain circumstances without consulting with the other Party; or 

14.6.2 following consultation with the other Party and having taken their views into account. The 
Recipient shall have absolute discretion as to whether Information is exempt f rom 

page 26



 

 

disclosure under the FOIA and the Environmental Information Regulations and whether 

Information is to be disclosed in response to a Request for Information.  

14.7 Each Party shall transfer to the other Party any Request for Information which it receives but is 
addressed to the other Party as soon as practicable and in any event within 6 Business Days of  

receiving it. 

14.8 The Parties acknowledge that any lists provided which itemise or outline conf idential information are 
of  indicative value only and that a Recipient may nevertheless be obliged to disclose conf idential 

information in accordance with this clause 14. 

14.9 The Parties shall comply with all Data Protection Legislation at all times when carrying out their 

respective obligations pursuant to this Agreement and any other agreement to which it is a party.  

15 NO PARTNERSHIP 

Nothing in this Agreement gives rise to a partnership between the Parties or constitutes one Party 

acting as the agent of  the other. 

16 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 

Unless the right of  enforcement is expressly granted, it is not intended that a third party, other than a 
lawful successor in title or a lawful assignee, should have the right to enforce a provision of  this 
Agreement pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of  Third Parties) Act 1999.  The Parties may rescind or 

vary this Agreement without the consent of  a third party to whom an express right to enforce any of  its 

terms has been provided. 

17 COSTS OF THIS AGREEMENT 

Each Party shall pay its own costs in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and 

performance of  this Agreement. 

18 WAIVER 

18.1 The rights of  each of  the Parties in respect of  a breach of  this Agreement shall not be af fected by 
completing, rescinding, or failing to rescind, this Agreement, or failing to exercise, or delaying to 
exercise, a right or remedy, or by anything else, except a specif ically authorised written waiver or 

release.  A single or partial exercise of  a right or remedy provided by this Agreement or by law does 

not prevent its further exercise or the exercise of  another right or remedy.  

18.2 Waiver of  a breach of  a term of  this Agreement, or of  a default under it, does not constitute a waiver 

of  another breach or default nor af fect the other terms of  this Agreement.  

18.3 The rights and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of  any other 

rights or remedies. 

19 VARIATION 

A purported variation of  this Agreement is not ef fective unless in writing and signed by or on behalf  of  

each of  the Parties. 

20 INVALIDITY 

If  a provision of  this Agreement is held to be illegal or unenforceable, in whole or in part, under an 
enactment or rule of  law, it shall to that extent be deemed not to form part of  this Agreement and the 

enforceability of  the remainder of  this Agreement shall not be af fected.  The Parties agree to negotiate 
in good faith to agree the terms of  a mutually satisfactory provision to be substituted for the provision 

found to be illegal or unenforceable. 

page 27



 

 

21 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

21.1 This Agreement (together with any documents entered into under it or at the same time as it) 

supersedes all prior understandings and agreements between the Parties (whether written or oral) 
relating to its subject-matter and contains the entire agreement between the Parties relating to its 

subject-matter. 

21.2 Each Party acknowledges that it does not enter into this Agreement on the basis of , and does not rely 
on, warranties or representations made, or agreed to, by any person (whether a party to this 

Agreement or not). 

21.3 Each Party waives its rights against the other in respect of  warranties and representations (whether 

written or oral) not expressly set out or referred to in this Agreement.  

21.4 Nothing in this clause 21 limits or excludes liability for f raud. 

22 STATUS OF THIS AGREEMENT 

In the event of  any ambiguity or discrepancy between the provisions of  this Agreement and the Articles, 
then it is the intention of  the Owner that the provisions of  this Agreement shall prevail.  Accordingly, 

the Owner shall take all such steps and do all such acts and things as may be necessary or desirable, 
including, without limitation, exercising all voting and other rights and powers of  control available to it 
in relation to the Company, so as to give ef fect to the provisions of this Agreement and shall further if  

necessary procure (insofar as it is able to do so by the exercise of  those rights and powers) any 

required amendment to the Articles. 

23 CONSENTS 

23.1 Consents, notices, approvals or agreements to be given by the Owner under this Agreement (including 

Owner Consent) shall be given in writing. 

23.2 Where this Agreement provides that a matter is subject to the consent, approval or agreement of  either 

Party then (except as expressly provided otherwise), it shall be in the absolute discretion of  that Party 

as to whether (and if  so, on what terms and conditions) the consent, approval or agreement is made. 

24 COMMUNICATIONS 

24.1 Any notice or other communication under or in connection with this Agreement shall be in writing and 

shall be delivered personally or sent by f irst-class post or by email as follows: 

24.1.1 if  to the Owner: 

Address:  as recorded in the recitals in the recitals to this Agreement 

Email: as notif ied to the other party f rom time to time 

marked for the attention of  the Owner Representative; and  

24.1.2 if  to the Company, to: 

Address: its registered address f rom time to time  

Email: as notif ied to the other party f rom time to time 

marked for the attention of  the Managing Director (or where one is not appointed any 

Director), 

or to such other person, address, or email as any Party may specify by notice in writing to the other.  

page 28



 

 

24.2 In the absence of  evidence of  earlier receipt, any notice or other communication shall be deemed to 

have been duly given: 

24.2.1 if  delivered personally, when lef t at the address referred to in clause 24.1; 

24.2.2 if  sent by f irst class mail, other than airmail, two Business Days af ter posting it;  

24.2.3 if  sent by email, when sent and there has been no communication by the recipient to the 

sender that the email has not been received, 

provided always that a notice given in accordance with the above but received on a day which is not 
a Business Day or af ter business hours on a Business Day will only be deemed to be given on the 

next Business Day. 

25 COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and by the Parties on dif ferent counterparts, but 

shall not be ef fective until each Party has executed at least one counterpart.  Each counterpart, when 

executed, shall be an original, but all the counterparts  together constitute the same document. 

26 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

26.1 This Agreement and the rights and obligations of  the Parties shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the laws of  England and Wales. 

26.2 The Parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of  the courts of  England and Wales in 

respect of  any dispute or claim arising out of  or in connection with this Agreement or any of  the 
documents to be executed pursuant to this Agreement or their subject-matter or formation (including 

non-contractual disputes or claims). 

26.3 This Agreement has been executed as a deed and delivered on the date stated at the beginning of  

this Agreement. 

page 29



 

 

SCHEDULE 1 - OWNER CONSENT MATTERS  

 

The table below sets out the Owner Consent Matters that are reserved to the Owner  
 

Number Reserved Matter 

Constitution of the company 

1.  Varying in any respect the articles or the rights attaching to any of the shares 

or memberships (as applicable) in the company. 

2.  Changing the company’s registered office. 

3.  Changing the company’s name. 

4.  Increase or reduce the amount of its issued share capital, grant any option 
over or in its share capital, redeem or purchase any of its own shares or 

otherwise alter, or effect any reorganisation of, its share capital (where 
applicable). 

5.  Apply for the listing or trading of any shares in its issued capital or debt 
securities on any stock exchange or market (where applicable). 

Officers and Shareholders of the company 

6.  The appointment and the appointment terms (including any remuneration 
terms) and the removal and removal terms of any Director. 

7.  The admission of further shareholders or members to the company or 
agreeing any rights or restrictions attaching to any shares or memberships 

allocated to such new shareholders or members as applicable). 

Financial Regulation 

8.  Appointing and changing the company’s auditors. 

9.  Changing the Financial Year of the company. 

10.  Declare or pay any end of year dividend of the company (where applicable). 

11.  Creating or agreeing to create a charge, security or encumbrance over the 
company’s assets, shares or income. 

12.  Passing any resolution for its winding up or presenting any petition for or 
winding up or the appointment of an Administrator. 

13.  Agree to make or making any loan (otherwise than by way of a deposit with 
a bank or other institution, the normal business of which includes the 

acceptance of deposits or in the ordinary course of business) or granting any 
credit (other than in the normal course of trading or the granting of trade 

credit to a company which has been approved under the Business Plan) or 

page 30



 

 

Number Reserved Matter 

giving any guarantee or indemnity (other than in the normal course of 
trading). 

Future direction and development of the company 

14.  Changing the nature of the business or commencing any new business 

which is not ancillary or incidental to the business of the company. 

15.  Forming any subsidiary or acquiring shares in any other company or 
participating in any partnership or incorporated joint venture vehicle.  

16.  Amalgamating or merging with any other company or business undertaking. 

17.  Selling or disposing of any part of the business of the company. 

18.  Agreeing or approving any material amendments to the Business Plan 

including any in-year material changes to the Business Plan and any 
amendments to the methodology of service delivery included within the 

Business Plan. 

19.  Undertaking any business or action which is inconsistent with the Business 
Plan then in force or omitting to undertake any action which is required by 
that Business Plan except with the prior written consent of the Owner.  

20.  Agreeing or approving any other material services the total value of which 

exceeds £250,000 per annum to be provided by the company to a third party 
not approved under the Business Plan. 

21.  Appoint any agent (not being a subcontractor) to conduct the whole or any 

part of the business of the company, other than the appointment of an agent 
to conduct an area of the business of a company. 

Management of the business of the company 

22.  Approving any matter that is reasonably likely to have an adverse effect on 

the reputation of the Owner. 

23.  Agreeing to enter into or entering into any acquisition or disposal of any 
material assets by the Company the total value of which the Board 
reasonably expects will exceed £100,000 per instance, and is not already 

approved in the Business Plan 

24.  Agreeing to enter into or entering into any acquisition of any vehicles in 
excess of the applicable approved purchase levels. 

25.  Participating in a bidding or tendering process, of any nature, which could 

result in the award of a contract: 

• with a value for more than £250,000; or 

page 31



 

 

Number Reserved Matter 

• which has the potential to compromise the status of the Company as 
compliant with the Vertical Arrangement Exemption; 

• or which the Board consider carries high or unusual risks for the 
Company. 

26.  Entering into a contract: 

• with a value for more than £250,000; or 

• which has the potential to compromise the status of the Company as 

compliant with the Vertical Arrangement Exemption; or  

• which the Board consider carries high or unusual risks for the 
Company; 

27.  Giving notice of termination of any arrangements, contracts or transactions 

the total value of which exceeds £250,000 or materially varying any such 
arrangements, contracts or transactions and such termination or variation is 

likely to have an adverse impact on the financial status of a company. 

28.  Agreeing or approving any material services to be provided by the Company 
to a third party the total value of which the Board reasonably expects will 
exceed 5% of the turnover of the Company for that given Financial Year 

29.  Granting rights (by licence or otherwise) in or over any intellectual property 
owned or used by the company. 

 

  

page 32



 

 

 

 

  
 
In witness whereof  the parties have executed this Agreement as a deed.  

 
 
 

Executed as a deed by affixing )   

the common seal of ) 

EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL ) 

) 
) 

in the presence of ) 

 ) 

………………………………… ) 

Authorised signatory ) 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Executed as a deed by )  

EAST DEVON ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES LIMITED 

)  

 
acting by …………………………………, 

) 
) 

 
  

 ) Director 

   

   

and ………………………………………    

  Director 

 

  

page 33



 

 

Appendix B: Articles of Association 

 

COMPANY NUMBER 16840236 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 

 
PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 
 

OF  

 
EAST DEVON ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES LIMITED  

 

 

  

page 34



 

 

Contents 

Item Page 

 

1 DEFINED TERMS ........................................................................................................................23 

2 LIABILITY OF THE OWNER ........................................................................................................24 

3 DIRECTORS’ GENERAL AUTHORITY  .........................................................................................24 

4 OWNER’S RESERVE POWER .....................................................................................................24 

5 DIRECTORS MAY DELEGATE ....................................................................................................24 

6 COMMITTEES .............................................................................................................................25 

7 DIRECTORS TO TAKE DECISIONS COLLECTIVELY ..................................................................25 

8 UNANIMOUS DECISIONS ...........................................................................................................25 

9 CALLING A DIRECTORS’ MEETING ...........................................................................................25 

10 PARTICIPATION IN DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS  .............................................................................26 

11 QUORUM FOR DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS  ....................................................................................26 

12 CHAIRING OF DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS  .....................................................................................27 

13 DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST....................................................................................27 

14 AUTHORISATION OF DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  .................................................27 

15 RECORDS OF DECISIONS TO BE KEPT.....................................................................................28 

16 DIRECTORS’ DISCRETION TO MAKE FURTHER RULES ............................................................28 

17 APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS  .......................................................................28 

18 TERMINATION OF DIRECTOR’S APPOINTMENT ........................................................................28 

19 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION ..................................................................................................29 

20 DIRECTORS’ EXPENSES............................................................................................................29 

21 COMPANY SECRETARY.............................................................................................................29 

22 OWNER REPRESENTATIVE  .......................................................................................................29 

23 CALLING A GENERAL MEETING................................................................................................29 

24 PROCEEDING AT A GENERAL MEETINGS  ................................................................................30 

25 ERRORS AND DISPUTES ...........................................................................................................30 

26 AMENDMENTS TO RESOLUTIONS .............................................................................................31 

27 WRITTEN RESOLUTIONS ...........................................................................................................31 

28 POLL VOTES ..............................................................................................................................31 

29 MEANS OF COMMUNICATION TO BE USED ..............................................................................32 

30 COMPANY SEALS ......................................................................................................................33 

31 INDEMNITY .................................................................................................................................33 

32 INSURANCE ...............................................................................................................................33 

33 ALL SHARES TO BE FULLY PAID UP .........................................................................................34 

34 POWERS TO ISSUE DIFFERENT CLASSES OF SHARE  .............................................................34 

35 COMPANY NOT BOUND BY LESS THAN ABSOLUTE INTERESTS .............................................34 

36 SHARE CERTIFICATES ..............................................................................................................34 

37 REPLACEMENT SHARE CERTIFICATES  ....................................................................................34 

38 SHARE TRANSFERS ..................................................................................................................35 

39 TRANSMISSION OF SHARES  .....................................................................................................35 

page 35



 

 

40 EXERCISE OF TRANSMITTEES’ RIGHTS  ...................................................................................35 

41 TRANSMITTEES BOUND BY PRIOR NOTICES  ...........................................................................36 

42 PROCEDURE FOR DECLARING DIVIDENDS ..............................................................................36 

43 PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS ...........................................................36 

44 NO INTEREST ON DISTRIBUTIONS  ............................................................................................36 

45 UNCLAIMED DISTRIBUTIONS ....................................................................................................37 

46 NON-CASH DISTRIBUTIONS ......................................................................................................37 

47 WAIVER OF DISTRIBUTIONS .....................................................................................................37 

48 CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS  ..................................................................................................37 

  

page 36



 

 

 
THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 

 

PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES 
 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

 
OF 

 

EAST DEVON ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES LIMITED 
(the “Company”) 

 

 

1 DEFINED TERMS 

1.1 Neither:  

1.1.1 the model articles for private companies limited by shares contained in Schedule 1 of  the 

Companies (Model Articles) Regulations 2008 (SI 2009/3229); nor  

1.1.2 any other regulations or model articles contained in any statute or subordinate legislation,   

shall apply to the Company, but the following shall be the articles of  association of  the Company.  

1.2 In these articles, unless the context requires otherwise: 

 articles mean the Company's articles of  association 

 bankruptcy includes individual insolvency proceedings in a jurisdiction other than England and 

Wales or Northern Ireland which have an ef fect similar to that of  bankruptcy 

 Chair has the meaning given in article 12 

 Companies Acts means the Companies Acts (as def ined in section 2 of  the Companies Act 2006),  

in so far as they apply to the Company 

 Conflict means a situation in which a Director has or can have, a direct or indirect interest that 

conf licts or possibly may conf lict, with the interests of  the Company 

 Director means a director of  the Company 

 document includes, unless otherwise specif ied, any document sent or supplied in electronic form 

 electronic form has the meaning given in section 1168 of  the Companies Act 2006 

 hard copy form has the meaning given in section 1168 of  the Companies Act 2006 

 Independent Director means a non-executive Director who is neither a member or of f icer of  nor 

otherwise associated with the Owner 

 instrument means a document in hard copy form 

 ordinary resolution has the meaning given in section 282 of  the Companies Act 2006 

 Owner means a person or body whose name is entered in the Register of  Members of  the Company 

 participate, in relation to a Directors’ meeting, has the meaning given in article 10 

 special resolution has the meaning given in section 283 of  the Companies Act 2006 

 writing means the representation or reproduction of  words, symbols or other information in a visible 
form by any method or combination of  methods, whether sent or supplied in electronic form or 

otherwise 

page 37



 

 

 fully paid in relation to a share, means that the nominal value and any premium to be paid to the 

Company in respect of  that share have been paid to the Company 

 holder in relation to shares means the person whose name is entered in the register of  members as 

the holder of  the shares 

 paid means paid or credited as paid 

 proxy notice has the meaning given in article 23.4 

 shareholder means a person who is the holder of  a share 

 shares means shares in the Company 

 transmittee means a person entitled to a share by reason of  the death or bankruptcy of  a 

shareholder or otherwise by operation of  law 

1.3 Unless the context otherwise requires, other words or expressions contained in these articles bear 
the same meaning as in the Companies Act 2006 as in force on the date when these articles become 

binding on the Company. 

1.4 Any words following the terms including, include, in particular, for example or any similar 
expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of  the words, description, 

def inition, phrase or term preceding those terms. 

2 LIABILITY OF THE OWNER 

2.1 The liability of  the Owner is limited to the amount, if  any, unpaid on the shares held by it, being the 

amount the Owner undertakes to contribute to the assets of  the Company in the event of  it being 
wound up while it is an Owner or within one year af ter it ceases to be an Owner, such amount to be 

contributed towards:  

2.1.1 payment of  those debts and liabilities of  the Company incurred before it ceased to be an 

Owner; 

2.1.2 payment of  the costs, charges and expenses of  winding up; and  

2.1.3 the adjustment of  rights of  contributors among themselves.  

3 DIRECTORS’ GENERAL AUTHORITY 

3.1 Subject to these articles the Directors are responsible for the management of  the Company’s 

business, for which purpose they may exercise all the powers of  the Company.  

4 OWNER’S RESERVE POWER 

4.1 The Owner may, by special resolution, direct the Directors to take, or ref rain f rom taking, specified 

action 

4.2 No such special resolution invalidates anything which the Directors have done before the passing of  

the resolution. 

5 DIRECTORS MAY DELEGATE 

5.1 Subject to these articles, the Directors may delegate any of  the powers which are conferred on them 

under these articles: 

5.1.1 to such person or committee; 

5.1.2 by such means (including by power of  attorney); 

5.1.3 to such an extent; 

page 38



 

 

5.1.4 in relation to such matters or territories; and 

5.1.5 on such terms and conditions, 

as they think f it. 

5.2 If  the Directors so specify, any such delegation may authorise further delegation of  the Directors’ 

powers by any person to whom they are delegated. 

5.3 The Directors or the Owner may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms and 

conditions. 

6 COMMITTEES 

6.1 Committees to which the Directors delegate any of  their powers must follow procedures which are 

based as far as they are applicable on those provisions of  these articles which govern the taking of  

decisions by Directors. 

6.2 At least one member of  the committee must be a Director.  The relevant Director must form part of  

the quorum of  the committee for a decision of  the committee to be validly taken.  

6.3 The Directors may make rules of  procedure for all or any committees, which prevail over rules derived 

f rom these articles if  they are not consistent with them. 

6.4 All proceedings of  committees must be reported promptly to the Directors.  

7 DIRECTORS TO TAKE DECISIONS COLLECTIVELY 

7.1 The general rule about decision-making by Directors is that any decision of  the Directors must be 

either a majority decision at a meeting or a decision taken in accordance with article 7.2. 

7.2 If  only one Director is eligible to vote on any authorisation under article 14 or if  there is only one 
Director, the general rule does not apply and the eligible Director may take decisions in relation to 

the relevant matter without regard to any of  the provisions in these articles relating to Directors' 

decision-making. 

7.3 Every Director has one vote on each issue. 

7.4 A procedural defect of  which the Directors are unaware at the time does not invalidate decisions 

taken at a meeting.  

8 UNANIMOUS DECISIONS  

8.1 A decision of  the Directors is taken in accordance with this article when all eligible Directors indicate 

to each other by any means that they share a common view on a matter.  

8.2 Such a decision may take the form of  a resolution in writing, which may consist of  several copies 

each signed by one or more eligible Directors or to which the eligible Directors have otherwise 

indicated agreement in writing. 

8.3 References in this article to eligible Directors are to Directors who would have been entitled to vote 

on the matter had it been proposed as a resolution at a Directors’ meeting.  

8.4 A decision may not be taken in accordance with this article if  the eligible Directors would not have 

formed a quorum at such a meeting. 

9 CALLING A DIRECTORS’ MEETING 

9.1 Meetings of  Directors shall be held no less than four times in every year and at not more than three 

monthly intervals  

9.2 The Owner or any Director may call a Directors’ meeting by giving notice of  the meeting to the 

Directors or by authorising the company secretary (if  any) to give such notice.  

page 39



 

 

9.3 A meeting of  the Directors must be called by at least seven days' notice unless either: 

9.3.1 the Directors unanimously agree otherwise; or 

9.3.2 urgent circumstances require shorter notice. 

9.4 Notice of  any Directors’ meeting must indicate: 

9.4.1 its proposed date and time; 

9.4.2 where it is to take place (which may be physical, virtual or a combination); and  

9.4.3 if  it is anticipated that Directors participating in the meeting will not be in the same place, 

how it is proposed that they should communicate with each other during the meeting.  

9.5 Notice of  a Directors’ meeting must be given to each Director, but need not be in writing.  

9.6 Notice of  a Directors’ meeting need not be given to Directors who waive their entitlement to notice of  
that meeting.  A Director may waive the requirement that notice of  a meeting of  the Directors or of  a 
committee of  the Directors be given to him at any t ime before or af ter the date on which the meeting 

is held by notifying the Company to that ef fect.  Where a Director gives such notice af ter the meeting 

has been held, that does not af fect the validity of  the meeting, or of  any business conducted at it.  

10 PARTICIPATION IN DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

10.1 Subject to these articles, Directors participate in a Directors’ meeting, or part of  a Directors’ meeting, 

when: 

10.1.1 the meeting has been called and takes place in accordance with these articles; and  

10.1.2 they can each communicate to the others any information or opinions they have on any 

particular item of  the business of  the meeting. 

10.2 In determining whether Directors are participating in a Directors’ meeting, it is irrelevant where any 

Director is or how they communicate with each other.  

10.3 If  all the Directors participating in a meeting are not in the same place, the meeting shall be deemed 
to take place where the largest group of  those participating is assembled or, if  there is no such group, 

where the Chair of  the meeting is.   

11 QUORUM FOR DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

11.1 At a Directors’ meeting, unless a quorum is participating, no proposal is to be voted on, except a 

proposal to call another meeting. 

11.2 Subject to article 11.3 the quorum for the transaction of  business of  the Directors shall be:  

11.2.1 two Independent Directors (or, if  less, such number of  Independent Directors as are then 

in of f ice); and 

11.2.2 where there is at least one executive Director in of f ice, one executive Director.  

11.3 Where there are no Independent Directors appointed the quorum for the transaction of  business of  

the Directors shall be 2 Directors.  

11.4 If  the total number of  Directors for the time being is less than the quorum required, the Directors must 
not take any decision other than a decision to call a general meeting so as to enable the Owner to 

appoint further Directors.  

11.5 If  a quorum is not present with half  an hour f rom the time appointed for the meeting, or during a 
meeting a quorum ceases to be present, the meeting shall be adjourned to such time and place as 

the Directors may determine.  

page 40



 

 

12  CHAIRING OF DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

12.1 The Owner or, where the Owner has not exercised its rights to do so, the Directors, shall appoint an 
Independent Director (or, where there are no Independent Directors in of fice), any Director) to chair 

the meetings of  Directors.  The person so appointed f or the time being is known as the Chair. 

12.2 The Owner may terminate the Chair’s appointment at any time.  

12.3 If  the numbers of  votes for and against a proposal are equal, the Chair shall have a casting vote.  

13 DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

13.1 A Director must declare the nature and extent of  any interest, direct or indirect, which he or she has 
in a proposed transaction or arrangement with the Company or in any transaction or arrangement 

entered into by the Company which has not previously been declared.  A Director must absent 
himself  or herself  f rom any discussions of the Directors in which it is possible that a Conf lict will arise 
between his or her duty to act solely in the interests of  the Company and any personal interest 

(including but not limited to any personal f inancial interest) and not count in the quorum nor vote on 

any such matters unless otherwise authorised by article 14.    

14 AUTHORISATION OF DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

14.1 For the purposes of  section 175 of  the Companies Act 2006, as amended, consolidated or re-enacted 
f rom time to time, the Directors shall have the power to authorise any matter which would or might 
otherwise constitute or give rise to a breach by a Director of  the duty to avoid conf licts of interest set 

out in that section of  the Companies Act 2006.  Any reference in these articles to a Conf lict of  interest 

includes a Conf lict of  interest and duty and a Conf lict of  duties.  

14.2 Provided that he has disclosed to the Directors the nature and extent of  any interest of  his in 

accordance with and to the extent required by the Companies Act 2006, a Director notwithstanding 
his of f ice may be an elected member, director or other of f icer of , employed by the Owner or any 

company in which the Owner has an interest. 

14.3 For the purposes of  article 14.2 a Director shall be deemed to have disclosed the nature and extent 
of  an interest which consists of  him being an elected member, director, of f icer or employee of  the 

Owner or any company in which the Owner has an interest. 

14.4 Where a Director is an elected member, director, of ficer, or employee of  the Owner or any company 

in which the Owner has an interest, they: 

14.4.1 may in exercising his independent judgment take into account the success of  the Owner 

or any company in which the Owner has an interest as well as the success of  the 

Company; and 

14.4.2 shall in the exercise of  his duties have a duty of  conf identiality to the Owner or any 

company in which the Owner has an interest in relation to conf idential information of  the 
Owner or any company in which the Owner has an interest, but they shall not be restricted 
by any duty of  conf identiality to the Company f rom providing information to the Owner or 

any company in which the Owner has an interest. 

14.5 Save as pre-authorised under article 14.2, authorisation of  a matter under this article 14 shall be 

ef fective only if : 

14.5.1 the matter in question shall have been proposed in writing for consideration by the 

Directors, or in such other manner as the Directors may determine;  

14.5.2 any requirement as to the quorum at the meeting of  the Directors at which the matter is 

considered is met without counting the Director in question and any other interested  

Director (together, the Interested Directors); and 

14.5.3 the matter was agreed to without the Interested Directors voting or would have been 

agreed to if  the votes of  the Interested Directors had not been counted.  

page 41



 

 

14.6 Unless otherwise determined by the Directors (excluding the Interested Directors), any authorisation 
of  a matter under this article 14 shall extend to any actual or potential Conf lict of  interest which may 

reasonably be expected to arise out of  the matter so authorised.  

14.7 Any authorisation of  a matter under this article 14 shall be on such terms and/or conditions as the 
Directors (excluding the Interested Directors) may determine, whether at the time such authorisation 
is given or subsequently and may be varied or terminated by the Directors (excluding the Interested 

Directors) at any time.  Such terms or conditions may include (without limitation) terms and conditions 
as to the duration, renewal and/or revocation of  the authorisation, and/or the exclusion of  the 
Interested Directors f rom all information and discussion of  the matter in question.  A Director shall 

comply with any obligations imposed on him by the Directors (excluding the Interested Directors) 

pursuant to any such authorisation. 

14.8 A Director shall not, save as otherwise agreed by him, be accountable to the Company for any benef it 

which he (or a person connected with him) derives f rom any matter authorised by the Directors under 
this article and any contract, transaction or arrangement relating thereto shall not be liable to be 

avoided on the grounds of  any such benef it.  

15 RECORDS OF DECISIONS TO BE KEPT 

15.1 The Directors must ensure that the Company keeps a record, in writing, for at least 10 years f rom 

the date of  the decision recorded, of  every unanimous or majority decision taken by the Directors.  

16 DIRECTORS’ DISCRETION TO MAKE FURTHER RULES 

16.1 Subject to these articles, the Directors may make any rule which they think f it about how they take 

decisions, and about how such rules are to be recorded or communicated to Directors.  

17 APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS  

17.1 Unless otherwise determined by the Owner, the maximum number of  Directors shall be f ive. 

17.2 The Owner shall appoint and remove Directors at any time and on such terms as the Owner 

determines.  Every such appointment or removal shall be ef fected by notice in writing to the Company 

and shall take ef fect immediately (or on such later date, if  any, specif ied in the notice).  

17.3 A Director may not appoint an alternate Director or anyone to act on his or her behalf  at meetings of  

the Directors. 

17.4 Any removal pursuant to this article 17 shall be without prejudice to any claim that a Director may 

have under any contract between him and the Company. 

18 TERMINATION OF DIRECTOR’S APPOINTMENT 

18.1 A person ceases to be a Director as soon as: 

18.1.1 that person ceases to be a Director by virtue of  any provision of the Companies Act 2006 

or is prohibited f rom being a director by law; 

18.1.2 that person has for more than six consecutive months been absent without permission of  
the Directors f rom meetings of  Directors held during that period and the Directors resolve 

that person's of f ice be vacated; 

18.1.3 a bankruptcy order is made against that person; 

18.1.4 a composition is made with that person’s creditors generally in satisfaction of  that 

person’s debts; 

18.1.5 a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a written opinion to the 
Company stating that that person has become physically or mentally incapable of  acting 

as a Director and may remain so for more than three months;  

page 42



 

 

18.1.6 that person (having an Owner employee at the time of  their appointment as a Director) 

ceases to be employed by the Owner; 

18.1.7 that person (having been an elected member of  the Owner at the time of  their appointment 

as a Director)  ceases to be an elected member; 

18.1.8  notif ication is received by the Company f rom the Director that the Director is resigning 

f rom of f ice, and such resignation has taken ef fect in accordance with its terms; or 

18.1.9 is removed by the Owner by notice in writing to the Company.  

19 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

19.1 Directors may undertake any services for the Company that the Directors decide.  

19.2 Subject to the Local Authorities (Companies) Order 1995 and the prior approval of  the Owner,  

Directors are entitled to such remuneration as the Owner may determine:  

19.2.1 for their services to the Company as Directors; and  

19.2.2 for any other service which they undertake for the Company.  

19.3 Unless the Owner decides otherwise, Directors are not accountable to the Company for any 
remuneration which they receive as Directors or other of ficers or employees of  the Owner or of  any 

other body corporate in which the Company is interested.  

20 DIRECTORS’ EXPENSES 

20.1 Subject to the Local Authorities (Companies) Order 1995 and to such general rules and limitations 

as the Owner may f rom time to time determine, the Company may pay any reasonable expenses 

which the Directors properly incur in connection with their attendance at:  

20.1.1 meetings of  Directors or committees of  Directors;  

20.1.2 general meetings; or 

20.1.3 otherwise in connection with the exercise of  their powers and the discharge of  their 

responsibilities in relation to the Company. 

21 COMPANY SECRETARY 

21.1 The Directors may appoint a company secretary for such term, at such remuneration and upon such 

conditions as they think f it.  Any company secretary may be removed or replaced by the Directors.  

22 OWNER REPRESENTATIVE 

22.1 Subject to the provisions of  any agreement between the Owner and the Company in force f rom time 
to time, there shall be a sole Owner of  the Company. The Owner may appoint up to three individuals 

to exercise its rights at general meetings and to give or receive notices and other documents under 

these articles.  

23 CALLING A GENERAL MEETING 

23.1 The Owner or the Directors may call a general meeting at any time.  

23.2 The minimum period of  notice required to hold a general meeting of  the Company is fourteen clear 

days. 

23.3 A general meeting may be called by shorter notice if  it is so agreed by the Owner.  

23.4 The notice of  general meeting must specify the date time and place of , or online meeting location 
for, the meeting and the general nature of  the business to be transacted.  The notice must also 

page 43



 

 

contain a statement setting out the right of  the Owner to appoint a proxy under section 324 of  the 

Companies Act 2006. 

23.5 The notice must be given to the Owner and to the Directors.  

23.6 The proceedings at a meeting shall not be invalidated because a person who was entitled to receive 

notice of  the meeting did not receive it because of  an accidental omission by the Company.  

24 PROCEEDING AT A GENERAL MEETINGS 

24.1 No business is to be transacted at a general meeting if  the person(s) attending it do not constitute a 

quorum.  A quorum is formed by the duly authorised representative of  the Owner.  

24.2 If : 

24.2.1 a quorum is not present within half  an hour f rom the time appointed for the meeting; or 

24.2.2 during a meeting a quorum ceases to be present; 

the meeting shall be adjourned to such time and place as the Owner shall determine.  

24.3 General meetings shall be chaired by the duly authorised representative of  the Owner.  

24.4 A resolution put to the vote of  a general meeting will be decided on a show of  hands.  

24.5 Each Owner, present in person or by proxy, whether an individual or an organisation, shall have one 

vote. 

24.6 A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a general meeting when:  

24.6.1 that person is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put to the vote at the 

meeting; and 

24.6.2 that person’s vote can be taken into account in determining whether or not such 
resolutions are passed at the same time as the votes of  all the other persons attending 

the meeting. 

24.7 The Directors may make whatever arrangements they consider appropriate to enable those 

attending a general meeting to exercise their rights to speak or vote at it.  

24.8 A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a general meeting when that person is in a position 
to communicate to all those attending the meeting, during the meeting, any information or opinions 

which that person has on the business of  the meeting.  

24.9 Directors may attend and speak at general meetings. 

24.10 The chair of  the meeting may permit other persons who are not: 

24.10.1 appointed representatives of  the sole Owner; or 

24.10.2 otherwise entitled to exercise the rights of  the sole Owner in relation to general meetings, 

to attend and speak at a general meeting. 

25 ERRORS AND DISPUTES 

25.1 No objection may be raised to the qualif ication of  any person voting at a general meeting except at 
the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is tendered, and every vote not 

disallowed at the meeting is valid. 

25.2 Any such objection must be referred to the chair of  the meeting, whose decision is f inal. 

page 44



 

 

26 AMENDMENTS TO RESOLUTIONS 

26.1 An ordinary resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by ordinary resolution 

if : 

26.1.1 notice of  the proposed amendment is given to the Company in writing by a person entitled 
to vote at the general meeting at which it is to be proposed not less than 48 hours before 
the meeting is to take place (or such later time as the chair of  the meeting may determine);  

and  

26.1.2 the proposed amendment does not, in the reasonable opinion of  the chair of  the meeting, 

materially alter the scope of  the resolution. 

26.2 A special resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by ordinary resolution, if: 

26.2.1 the chair of  the meeting proposes the amendment at the general meeting at which the 

resolution is to be proposed; and 

26.2.2 the amendment does not go beyond what is necessary to correct a grammatical or other 

non-substantive error in the resolution. 

26.3 If  the chair of  the meeting, acting in good faith, wrongly decides that an amendment to a resolution 

is out of  order, the chair of  the meeting's error does not invalidate the vote on that resolution. 

27 WRITTEN RESOLUTIONS 

27.1 A resolution in writing agreed by the Owners who hold a simple majority (or in the case of  a special 

resolution, a majority of  not less than 75%) of  the shares in the Company and who would have been 

entitled to vote upon it had it been proposed at a general meeting shall be ef fective provided that: 

27.1.1 a copy of  the proposed resolution has been sent to every eligible Owner;  

27.1.2 the Owners holding a simple majority (or in the case of  a special resolution, a majority of  
not less than 75%) of  the shares in the Company have signif ied their agreement to the 

resolution; and 

27.1.3 it is contained in an authenticated document which has been received at the registered 

of f ice within the period of  28 days beginning with the circulation date.  

27.2 A resolution in writing may comprise several copies to which one or more Owners have signif ied their 

agreement. 

27.3 In the case of  an Owner that is an organisation, its authorised representative may signify its 

agreement. 

28 POLL VOTES 

28.1 A poll on a resolution may be demanded: 

28.1.1 in advance of  the general meeting where it is to be put to the vote, or 

28.1.2 at a general meeting, either before a show of  hands on that resolution or immediately 

af ter the result of  a show of  hands on that resolution is declared.  

28.2 A poll may be demanded by: 

28.2.1 the chair of  the meeting; 

28.2.2 the Directors; 

28.2.3 two or more persons having the right to vote on the resolution; or 

page 45



 

 

28.2.4 a person or persons representing not less than one tenth of  the total voting rights of  all 

the shareholders having the right to vote on the resolution.  

28.3 A demand for a poll may be withdrawn if : 

28.3.1 the poll has not yet been taken, and 

28.3.2 the chair of  the meeting consents to the withdrawal.  

28.4 Polls must be taken immediately and in such manner as the chair of  the meeting directs.  

29 MEANS OF COMMUNICATION TO BE USED 

29.1 Subject to these articles, anything sent or supplied by or to the Company under these articles may 
be sent or supplied in any way in which the Companies Acts provides for documents or information 

which are authorised or required by any provision of  that Act to be sent or supplied by or to the 

Company. 

29.2 Subject to these articles, any notice or document to be sent or supplied to a Director in connection 

with the taking of  decisions by Directors may also be sent or supplied by the means by which that 

Director has asked to be sent or supplied with such notices or documents for the time being. 

29.3 Any notice to be given to or by any person pursuant to these articles:  

29.3.1 must be in writing; or 

29.3.2 must be given in electronic form. 

29.4 The Company may give any notice to the Owner either:  

29.4.1 personally; or 

29.4.2 by sending it by post in a prepaid envelope addressed to the Owner at the Owner's 

address; or 

29.4.3 by leaving it at the address of  the Owner; or  

29.4.4 by giving it in electronic form to the Owner’s address; or 

29.4.5 by placing the notice on a website and providing the person with a notif ication in writing 

or in electronic form of  the presence of  the notice on the website.  The notif ication must 
state that it concerns a notice of  a company meeting and must specify the place date and 

time of  the meeting. 

29.5 An Owner who does not register an address with the Company or who registers only a postal address 

that is not within the United Kingdom shall not be entitled to receive any notice f rom the Company.  

29.6 An Owner present in person at any meeting of  the Company shall be deemed to have received notice 

of  the meeting and of  the purposes for which it was called.  

29.7 Proof  that an envelope containing a notice was properly addressed, prepaid and posted shall be 

conclusive evidence that the notice was given. 

29.8 Proof  that an electronic form of  notice was given shall be conclusive where the Company can 
demonstrate that it was properly addressed and sent, in accordance with section 1147 of  the 

Companies Act 2006. 

29.9 In accordance with section 1147 of  the Companies Act 2006 notice shall be deemed to be given:  

(a) 48 hours af ter the envelope containing it was posted; or  

(b) in the case of  an electronic form of  communication, 48 hours af ter it was sent.  

page 46



 

 

30 COMPANY SEALS 

30.1 Any common seal may only be used by the authority of  the Directors.  

30.2 The Directors may decide by what means and in what form any common seal is to be used.  

30.3 Unless otherwise decided by the Directors, if  the Company has a common seal and it is af f ixed to a 
document, the document must also be signed by at least one authorised person in the presence of  

a witness who attests the signature. 

30.4 For the purposes of  this article, an authorised person is:  

30.4.1 any Director of  the Company; 

30.4.2 the company secretary (if  any); or 

30.4.3 any person authorised by the Directors for the purpose of  signing documents to which the 

common seal is applied. 

31 INDEMNITY 

31.1 The Company may indemnify any relevant of f icer out of  the assets of  the Company f rom and against 
any loss, liability or expense incurred by him or them in relation to the Company (including any liability 
incurred in connection with the activities of  the Company or an associated company in its capacity 

as a trustee of  an occupational pension scheme (as def ined in section 235(6) of  the Companies Act 
2006)) provided that this article shall have ef fect, and any indemnity provided by or pursuant to it 
shall apply, only to the extent permitted by, and subject to the restrictions of , the Companies Act 

2006.  This article does not allow for or provide (to any extent) an indemnity which is more extensive 
than as permitted by the Companies Act 2006 and any such indemnity is limited accordingly.  This 

article is also without prejudice to any indemnity to which any person may otherwise be entitled.   

31.2 To the extent permitted by, and subject to the restrictions in, the Companies Act 2006 and without 
prejudice to any indemnity to which he may otherwise be entitled, the Directors shall have the power 
to provide funds to meet any expenditure incurred or to be incurred by any relevant of f icer in 

defending any criminal or civil (including regulatory) proceedings, or in connection with an application 

under the Companies Act 2006, or to enable him to avoid incurring such expenditure.  

31.3 Without prejudice to the provisions of  article 32, the Directors may exercise all the powers of  the 

Company to purchase and maintain insurance for the benef it of  any person who is a relevant of f icer 
or an employee or former employee of  the Company or any associated company or who is or was a 
trustee of  a retirement benef its scheme or another trust in which a relevant of ficer or an employee 

or former employee is or has been interested, indemnifying him against liability for negligence, 
default, breach of  duty or breach of  trust or any other liability which may lawfully be insured against 

by the Company. 

31.4 In these articles:  

31.4.1 companies are associated if  one is a subsidiary of  the other or both are subsidiaries of  

the same body corporate; and  

31.4.2 relevant officer means any current or former Director, secretary or other of ficer of  the 
Company or an associated company (including any company which is a trustee of  an 
occupational pension scheme (as def ined in section 235(6) of  the Companies Act 2006)), 

other than any person (whether an of f icer or not) engaged by the Company (or associated 

company) as an auditor, to the extent he acts as an auditor.  

32 INSURANCE 

32.1 The Directors may decide to purchase and maintain insurance, at the expense of  the Company, for 

the benef it of  any relevant Director in respect of  any relevant loss.  

32.2 In this article: 

page 47



 

 

32.2.1 a relevant Director means any Director or former Director of  the Company or an 

associated company; and  

32.2.2 a relevant loss means any loss or liability which has been or may be incurred by a 

relevant Director in connection with that Director’s duties or powers in relation to the 
Company, any associated company or any pension fund or employees’ share scheme of  

the Company or associated company; and 

32.2.3 companies are associated if  one is a subsidiary of  the other or both are subsidiaries of  

the same body corporate. 

33 ALL SHARES TO BE FULLY PAID UP 

33.1 No share is to be issued for less than the aggregate of  its nominal value and any premium to be paid 

to the Company in consideration for its issue. 

34 POWERS TO ISSUE DIFFERENT CLASSES OF SHARE 

34.1 Subject to the articles, but without prejudice to the rights attached to any existing share, the Company 

may issue shares with such rights or restrictions as may be determined by ordinary resolution.  

34.2 The Company may issue shares which are to be redeemed, or are liable to be redeemed at the 

option of  the Company or the holder, and the directors may determine the terms, conditions and 

manner of  redemption of  any such shares. 

35 COMPANY NOT BOUND BY LESS THAN ABSOLUTE INTERESTS 

35.1 Except as required by law, no person is to be recognised by the Company as holding any share upon 
any trust, and except as otherwise required by law or the articles, the Company is not in any way to 
be bound by or recognise any interest in a share other than the holder’s absolute ownership of  it and 

all the rights attaching to it. 

36 SHARE CERTIFICATES 

36.1 The Company must issue each shareholder, f ree of  charge, with one or more certif icates in respect 

of  the shares which that shareholder holds. 

36.2 Every certif icate must specify 

36.2.1 in respect of  how many shares, of  what class, it is issued;  

36.2.2 the nominal value of  those shares; 

36.2.3 that the shares are fully paid; and 

36.2.4 any distinguishing numbers assigned to them. 

36.3 No certif icate may be issued in respect of  shares of  more than one class.  

36.4 If  more than one person holds a share, only one certif icate may be issued in respect of  it.  

36.5 Certif icates must: 

36.5.1 have af f ixed to them the Company’s common seal, or 

36.5.2 be otherwise executed in accordance with the Companies Acts.  

37 REPLACEMENT SHARE CERTIFICATES 

37.1 If  a certif icate issued in respect of  a shareholder’s shares is: 

37.1.1 damaged or defaced, or 

page 48



 

 

37.1.2 said to be lost, stolen or destroyed, that shareholder is entitled to be issued with a 

replacement certif icate in respect of  the same shares. 

37.2 A shareholder exercising the right to be issued with such a replacement certif icate: 

37.2.1 may at the same time exercise the right to be issued with a single certif icate or separate 

certif icates; 

37.2.2 must return the certif icate which is to be replaced to the Company if  it is damaged or 

defaced; and 

37.2.3 must comply with such conditions as to evidence, indemnity and the payment of  a 

reasonable fee as the Directors decide. 

38 SHARE TRANSFERS 

38.1 Shares may be transferred by means of  an instrument of  transfer in any usual form or any other form 

approved by the Directors, which is executed by or on behalf  of  the transferor.  

38.2 The Directors may not register a transfer of  shares without the consent of  the Owner.  

38.3 No fee may be charged for registering any instrument of  transfer or other document relating to or 

af fecting the title to any share. 

38.4 The Company may retain any instrument of  transfer which is registered.  

38.5 The transferor remains the holder of  a share until the transferee’s name is entered in the register of  

members as holder of  it. 

38.6 The Directors may refuse to register the transfer of  a share, and if  they do so, the instrument of  
transfer must be returned to the transferee with the notice of  refusal unless they suspect that the 

proposed transfer may be f raudulent. 

39 TRANSMISSION OF SHARES 

39.1 If  title to a share passes to a transmittee, the Company may only recognise the transmittee as having 

any title to that share. 

39.2 A transmittee who produces such evidence of  entitlement to shares as the Directors may properly 

require: 

39.2.1 may, subject to the articles, choose either to become the holder of  those shares or to 

have them transferred to another person, and 

39.2.2 subject to the articles, and pending any transfer of  the shares to another person, has the 

same rights as the holder had. 

39.3 Transmittees do not have the right to attend or vote at a general meeting, or agree to a proposed 
written resolution, in respect of  shares to which they are entitled, by reason of  the holder’s death or 

bankruptcy or otherwise, unless they become the holders of  those shares. 

40 EXERCISE OF TRANSMITTEES’ RIGHTS 

40.1 Transmittees who wish to become the holders of  shares to which they have become entitled must 

notify the Company in writing of  that wish. 

40.2 If  the transmittee wishes to have a share transferred to another person, the transmittee must execute 

an instrument of  transfer in respect of  it. 

40.3 Any transfer made or executed under this article is to be treated as if  it were made or executed by 

the person f rom whom the transmittee has derived rights in respect of  the share, and as if  the event 

which gave rise to the transmission had not occurred. 

page 49



 

 

41 TRANSMITTEES BOUND BY PRIOR NOTICES 

41.1 If  a notice is given to a shareholder in respect of  shares and a transmittee is entitled to those shares, 
the transmittee is bound by the notice if  it was given to the shareholder before the transmittee’s name 

has been entered in the register of  members. 

42 PROCEDURE FOR DECLARING DIVIDENDS 

42.1 The Company may by ordinary resolution declare dividends, and the Directors may decide to pay 

interim dividends. 

42.2 A dividend must not be declared unless the Directors have made a recommendation as to its amount. 

Such a dividend must not exceed the amount recommended by the Directors. 

42.3 No dividend may be declared or paid unless it is in accordance with shareholders’ respective rights. 

42.4 Unless the shareholders’ resolution to declare or Directors’ decision to pay a dividend, or the terms 
on which shares are issued, specify otherwise, it must be paid by reference to each shareholder’s 

holding of  shares on the date of  the resolution or decision to declare or pay it.  

42.5 If  the Company’s share capital is divided into dif ferent classes, no interim dividend may be paid on 
shares carrying deferred or non-preferred rights if , at the time of  payment, any preferential dividend 

is in arrear. 

42.6 The Directors may pay at intervals any dividend payable at a f ixed rate if  it appears to them that the 

prof its available for distribution justify the payment.  

42.7 If  the Directors act in good faith, they do not incur any liability to the holders of  shares conferring 
preferred rights for any loss they may suf fer by the lawful payment of  an interim dividend on shares 

with deferred or non-preferred rights. 

43 PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS 

43.1 Where a dividend or other sum which is a distribution is payable in respect of  a share, it must be paid 

by one or more of  the following means: 

43.1.1 transfer to a bank or building society account specif ied by the distribution recipient either 

in writing or as the Directors may otherwise decide; 

43.1.2 sending a cheque made payable to the distribution recipient by post to the distribution 

recipient at the distribution recipient’s registered address (if  the distribution recipient is a 
holder of  the share), or (in any other case) to an address specif ied by  the distribution 

recipient either in writing or as the Directors may otherwise decide; 

43.1.3 sending a cheque made payable to such person by post to such person at such address 
as the distribution recipient has specif ied either in writing or as the Directors may 

otherwise decide; or 

43.1.4 any other means of  payment as the Directors agree with the distribution recipient either 

in writing or by such other means as the Directors decide. 

43.2 In these articles, “the distribution recipient” means, in respect of  a share in respect of  which a 

dividend or other sum is payable: 

43.2.1 the holder of  the share; or 

43.2.2 if  the share has two or more joint holders, whichever of  them is named f irst in the register 

of  members; or 

43.2.3 if  the holder is no longer entitled to the share by reason of  death or bankruptcy, or 

otherwise by operation of  law, the transmittee. 

44 NO INTEREST ON DISTRIBUTIONS 

page 50



 

 

44.1 The Company may not pay interest on any dividend or other sum payable in respect of  a share 

unless otherwise provided by: 

44.1.1 the terms on which the share was issued, or 

44.1.2 the provisions of  another agreement between the holder of  that share and the Company. 

45 UNCLAIMED DISTRIBUTIONS 

45.1 All dividends or other sums which are: 

45.1.1 payable in respect of  shares, and 

45.1.2 unclaimed af ter having been declared or become payable,  

may be invested or otherwise made use of  by the Directors for the benef it of  the Company until claimed. 

45.2 The payment of  any such dividend or other sum into a separate account does not make the Company 

a trustee in respect of  it. 

45.3 If : 

45.3.1 twelve years have passed f rom the date on which a dividend or other sum became due 

for payment, and 

45.3.2 the distribution recipient has not claimed it,  

the distribution recipient is no longer entitled to that dividend or other sum and it ceases to remain owing by 

the Company. 

46 NON-CASH DISTRIBUTIONS 

46.1 Subject to the terms of  issue of  the share in question, the Company may, by ordinary resolution on 
the recommendation of  the Directors, decide to pay all or part of  a dividend or other distribution 
payable in respect of  a share by transferring non-cash assets of  equivalent value (including, without 

limitation, shares or other securities in any company).  

46.2 For the purposes of  paying a non-cash distribution, the Directors may make whatever arrangements 

they think f it, including, where any dif f iculty arises regarding the distribution: 

46.2.1 f ixing the value of  any assets; 

46.2.2 paying cash to any distribution recipient on the basis of  that value in order to adjust the 

rights of  recipients; and 

46.2.3 vesting any assets in trustees. 

47 WAIVER OF DISTRIBUTIONS 

47.1 Distribution recipients may waive their entitlement to a dividend or other distribution payable in 

respect of  a share by giving the Company notice in writing to that ef fect, but if : 

47.1.1 the share has more than one holder, or 

47.1.2 more than one person is entitled to the share, whether by reason of  the death or 

47.1.3 bankruptcy of  one or more joint holders, or otherwise, 

the notice is not ef fective unless it is expressed to be given, and signed, by all the holders or persons 

otherwise entitled to the share. 

48 CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS 

page 51



 

 

48.1 Subject to the articles, the Directors may, if  they are so authorised by an ordinary resolution— 

48.1.1 decide to capitalise any prof its of  the Company (whether or not they are available for 
distribution) which are not required for paying a preferential dividend, or any sum standing 

to the credit of  the Company’s share premium account or capital redemption reserve; and  

48.1.2 appropriate any sum which they so decide to capitalise (a “capitalised sum”) to the 
persons who would have been entitled to it if  it were distributed by way of  dividend (the 

“persons entitled”) and in the same proportions. 

48.2 Capitalised sums must be applied: 

48.2.1 on behalf  of  the persons entitled, and 

48.2.2 in the same proportions as a dividend would have been distributed to them.  

48.3 Any capitalised sum may be applied in paying up new shares of  a nominal amount equal to the 
capitalised sum which are then allotted credited as fully paid to the persons entitled or as they may 

direct. 

48.4 A capitalised sum which was appropriated f rom prof its available for distribution may be applied in 
paying up new debentures of  the company which are then allotted credited as fully paid to the 

persons entitled or as they may direct. 

48.5 Subject to the articles the Directors may: 

48.5.1 apply capitalised sums in accordance with paragraphs (3) and (4) partly in one way and 

partly in another; 

48.5.2 make such arrangements as they think f it to deal with shares or debentures becoming 
distributable in f ractions under this article (including the issuing of  f ractional certif icates 

or the making of  cash payments); and 

48.5.3 authorise any person to enter into an agreement with the company on behalf  of  all the 
persons entitled which is binding on them in respect of  the allotment of  shares and 

debentures to them under this article. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

page 52



 

 

Appendix C: Shareholder Committee terms of reference 

 

 
EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
For insert at Part 3 Section 2: Terms of reference and delegated powers of committees at 2.1 Cabinet  (to 

follow ‘Portfolio Teams’). We would suggest the following preamble, ‘Committees of the Executive’, is 
inserted before the Shareholder Committee Terms of Reference. Alternatively, this preamble may be added 
to Article 6. 

 
Committees of the Executive  
 

The Leader or the Cabinet may delegate any of  its functions to a committee of  the Cabinet. Committees of  
the Cabinet shall report to the Cabinet. The Leader or the Cabinet may establish decision-making committees 
which may only include Cabinet members. The Leader or the Cabinet may establish advisory committees, 

the membership of  which need not be limited to Cabinet members. The Leader or the Cabinet may change 
them, abolish them, or create further ones, at its own discretion.  
 

Committees established by the Leader or the Cabinet shall be empowered to perform these functions with 
immediate ef fect unless the Leader or the Cabinet impose any express restriction when they are established. 
Unless stated otherwise, all decision-making committees will continue in operation until expressly abolished 

by the Leader or the Cabinet and all advisory or consultative committees will continue in operation only until 
the f irst meeting of  the Cabinet in the next civic year following their establishment when they must be 
expressly renewed or they cease to exist.  
 

All functions that have been delegated to a committee established by the Leader or the Cabinet can still be 
taken by the Cabinet as the parent body (where the Cabinet has delegated that function) or by the Leader 
either personally or in accordance with the Leader’s delegation of  those functions to an individual Cabinet 

member or an alternative committee of  the Cabinet. 
 
The establishment, abolition or cessation of  committees and the amendment of  their terms of  reference will 

be reported to Full Council in due course for noting in the Council’s Constitution.   
 
Shareholder Committee 

 
Membership: 5 Cabinet Members including the Leader of  the Council, Cabinet Member with Portfolio 
Responsibility for Environment Operations, the Cabinet Member with Portfolio Responsibility for Finance,  

and 2 other Cabinet Members.  
The Head of  Paid Service, the Chief  Finance Off icer (Section 151 Off icer), the Monitoring Off icer and 
representatives of  Council companies shall be invited to meetings on a non-voting basis.  

The Committee will be chaired by the Cabinet Member with Portfolio Responsibility for Environment 
Operations. 
 

Meetings: 4 times per year (or more f requently as appropriate) 
 
Quorum: 3 

 
Reserves: Members of  the Shareholder Committee may appoint reserve members f rom within the Cabinet , 
including substituting membership with the relevant Cabinet portfolio lead for the company activities being 

considered.   
 
Competency: All members of  the Shareholder Committee and Cabinet members attending as reserves 

must: 
 
(a) have undertaken mandatory training in the relevant law and procedures which relate to the 

Committee’s work; and 
 
(b) undertake further mandatory training, on an ad hoc basis, when there are changes to procedure or 

relevant legislation that are deemed signif icant by the relevant Director.  
 
Terms of reference: The purpose of  the Shareholder Committee is to represent the Council’s interests as 

the owner of  East Devon District Council’s companies. The Shareholder Committee shall approve and 

page 53



 

 

oversee the Council's strategic objectives across its companies and to support the development of  these 
companies in line with the Council's regulations and ambitions. The Shareholder Committee will provide 
strategic oversight of  the Council’s companies and provide assurance to the Cabinet that these companies 

are compliant with the Council’s constitution, rules and procedures; its corporate objectives; are achieving 
best value; and are f it for purpose. 
 

The Shareholder Committee will not have operational control over the Council’s companies. The day -to-day 
operation of  each company is the responsibility of  the directors of  each company. Operational liaison with 
the Council’s companies will be between the client service of  the Council and the managing director of  each 

company. The following matters are reserved for the Shareholder Committee. In the event that the Committee 
was not minded to determine any matter reserved to it, it may refer those matters to the Leader or Cabinet 
for determination:  

 
(a) The Shareholder Committee has the right to access the following information f rom Council 

companies to undertake the work of  the Sub-Committee:  

 
(i) The statutory accounts of  the company;  
(ii) Business plans including risk registers; 

(iii) Reports on major projects; 
(iv) Any reports on engagement and commercial activity; and  
(v) Any additional information it considers necessary to undertake the work of  the 

Committee. 
 

(b) To hold the Council’s companies to account, providing strategic oversight of  the arrangements  

with the companies including the delivery by the companies of  the Council’s policy aims;  
(c) To appointment/remove company directors; 
(d) To appoint auditors;  

(e) To approve changes to the constitution of  the company; 
(f ) To exercise any shareholder consents; 
(g) To approve the business plans of  each of  the Council’s companies and any in-year variations to 

it, including providing strategic advice to the Cabinet on the robustness and suitability of  each of  
the business plans; 

(h) To approval any matter outside of  the business plan and/or which exceeds the thresholds as 

detailed in the reserved matters within the Shareholder Agreement   
(i) To approve any proposals to make a signif icant capital or revenue investment in any of  the 

Council’s companies; 

(j) To approve any other Reserved Matters provided for in the Shareholder Agreement ; 
(k) To take any decisions in relation to the overall commissioning arrangements;  
(l) To prepare and maintain a strategic risk register in relation to the Council’s companies ; 

(m) To review and analyse the annual statement of  accounts of  each of  the Council’s companies;   
(n) To determine the distribution of  any surplus or the issue of  any dividends f rom any of  the 

Council’s companies 

(o) To be consulted on the following by the Council’s companies:  
 

(i) the strategy, business plan, f inancial and corporate performance of  the company;  

(ii) Company policies;  
(iii) matters reserved for shareholder approval as and when appropriate; and  
(iv) emerging issues and opportunities which may impact the company, to discuss solutions 

proposed by the company. 
 
(p) To provide assurance that: 

 
(i) strategic commissioning arrangements for the Council’s companies are f it for purpose 

or provide recommendations to ensure that they are;  

(ii) the overarching performance arrangements for each of  the Council’s companies are fit 
for purpose or provide recommendations to ensure that they are;  

(iii) the arrangements for Council’s companies comply with the Procurement Act 2023;  

(iv) all Council’s companies are complying with the relevant statutory and regulatory 
f ramework for their respective areas of  operation. 

 

(q) To prepare and present a strategic report to the Cabinet at least once a year on the overall 
governance, f inancial and performance arrangements for the Council’s companies.  

 

page 54



Report to:  Shareholder Committee  

 

Date of Meeting 29th January 2026 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Recruitment of Directors for East Devon Environmental Services Ltd  

 

Report summary: 

This report outlines proposed arrangements for constituting and operating the Board of 
Directors for East Devon Environmental Services Ltd. 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendations: 

 
1. The Shareholder Committee (SHC) approve that a Chair for the Board is selected 

and appointed as outlined within the body of this report.  
2. The SHC agree that the Monitoring Officer arranges for the Managing Director to 

be appointed as a Director of the LATCo within 15 working days of them 

commencing their appointment.   
3. The SHC agree that selection and appointment of a member of staff to the role of 

Executive Finance Director is paused for the reasons set out in the report and that 
the role remains unfilled on the Board until such time as the Shareholder 
Committee resolve to fill the vacancy.  

4. That an additional Non-Executive Director post is created, with specific 
responsibilities for strategic financial governance and compliance. 

5. The SHC delegate responsibility to the Director of Place to implement the 
proposals for recruitment of Non-Executive Directors, as set out in this report. 
Three members of the Shareholder Committee will form a panel to conduct the 

selection process and will make recommendations to the Committee for suitable 
appointments.   

 

Reason for recommendation: 

To ensure effective governance of the Company through robust operating arrangements 
for the board and by recruiting Directors with appropriate skills and experience. 

 

Officer: David Robertson, Project Manager, Streetscene  

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 
 

page 55

Agenda Item 8



☐ Assets and Economy  

☐ Communications and Democracy 

☐ Council, Corporate and External Engagement 

☐ Culture, Leisure, Sport and Tourism 

☐ Environment - Nature and Climate 

☒ Environment - Operational 

☐ Finance  

☐ Place, Infrastructure and Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

There are no equalities impacts of this decision 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk; . 

Links to background information  
 

Appendixes 

Appendix A: Role Profiles 

 

Link to Council Plan 

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ A supported and engaged community  

☐ Carbon neutrality and ecological recovery 

☒ Resilient economy that supports local business 

☒ Financially secure and improving quality of services 

 

 

Report in full 

1. Background 

1.1. The Company was formally created and registered at Companies House in 
November 2025 and has subsequently been renamed as East Devon 

Environmental Services Limited; its registration number is 16840236. Two senior 
officers from the Council have been appointed as Company Directors, enabling it 
to be registered and to operate. It is intended that these appointments are a short-

term measure while long term arrangements for the Company Board are agreed 
and recruitment takes place. 

 

1.2. Governance arrangements for the Company were outlined in Cabinet Reports in 
July and October 2025; these set out the structure of the Company Board and 

governance structures. This creates a company Board of Directors consisting of 
the Managing Director, a Finance Director and three Non-Executive Directors.  

 

1.3. The Managing Director has been recruited and is anticipated to start work in mid-
February, following a decision by SHC in November 2025. This role is as both a 

page 56

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/councilplan/


staff member and a Director. Arrangements will be made to formally register the 
postholder within 15 days of commencing their role in relation to the latter.   

1.4. There has been extensive discussions among stakeholders about roles within the 
board and how to ensure it operates effectively. Recommendations within this 

report address the roles of the Chair of the Board, the Finance Director and how 
the Company Secretary function will be delivered. APSE are supporting 
administrative arrangements for the Board and have been instructed to develop 

role profiles for the Chair and other Non-Executive Directors, these are in 
Appendix A of this report. 

 

1.5. In addition to setting up the Board of Directors, the initial management structure of 
the company must also be agreed. This is currently under development and will 

be considered by the Company Board of Directors on 30th January 2026. A draft 
of the proposed structure will also be presented the Committee within the Project 

Update agenda item. The structure includes a Finance Business Partner, who will 
be an experienced management accountant and will lead on delivery of the 
financial functions of the company. This role will report directly into the Managing 

Director.  
 

2. Role of the Chair of the Board 

2.1. Section 4.4 of the Shareholder Agreement, which is subject to approval by the 
SHC on 29th January, proposes that the Chair of the Board is a Non-Executive 

Director and is appointed either by the Owner (through a decision of this 
Committee) or by the Company Directors where the owner has not exercised this 

right.  
 

2.2. It is proposed that the Chair is recruited and appointed before the other Non-

Executive Directors (NEDs), enabling them to contribute to the recruitment of the 
other NEDs. Arrangements for the recruitment of all NEDs are outlined in section 

5 of this report.  
 

2.3. The Chair is responsible for a wide range of strategic and administrative 

governance issues and is well placed to support the Managing Director and 
provide healthy challenge where necessary. Therefore it is recommended that the 

role profile in Appendix A of this report is adopted. This role will require significant 
commitment of time and skills, therefore it is recommended that an allowance will 
be paid of up to £500 per day for up to 40 days per year.  

 
3. Delaying appointment of the Finance Director and alternative arrangements for 

financial scrutiny.  
 

3.1. The proposed structure of the board agreed by Cabinet includes an executive 

Finance Director role which would operate part time and for a minimum of one 
day per week. Officers have spoken to senior management at Swisco and North 

Somerset Environment, two similar LATCos which operate services within the 
South West. In both cases, a Finance Director was not appointed in the first few 
years of operation as it was not felt necessary. Additionally, advice received 

verbally from APSE indicates that most small LATCos do not have an executive 
Finance Director position, relying on specialist skills from Non-Executive Directors 

instead.  
 

page 57



3.2. Therefore it is proposed that the role of executive Finance Director is not 
appointed at this time, but is retained as a role on the Board which can be 

appointed at a future time by a recommendation of the Board of Directors to the 
Shareholder Committee.  

 
3.3. It is recommended that one of the Non-Executive Director appointments selects a 

candidate with experience of strategic financial oversight and corporate legal and 

financial compliance.  
 

3.4. This change will allow budget instead to be focused on recruiting a finance 
business partner or manager into the LATCo staff immediately. A role which other 
LATCos have highlighted as essential.   

 
4. Role of the Company Secretary 

 
4.1. There is no legal duty for a Company to have a designated Secretary, however 

the functions of this role are integral to effective governance and compliance for 

these duties to be taken on by one or more Directors. The Shareholder 
Committee considered this in November 2025 and agreed to source specialist 

skills from APSE to carry out this role during the set up and initial trading period. 
Andrew Uprichard from APSE is undertaking this role and is also delivering 
training for the Board of Directors and Shareholder Committee.  

 
4.2. Andrew is acting in an advisory capacity to the Board and is also making 

arrangements for the initial Board meetings. It is intended that he will continue 
delivering this role throughout 2026 and will train and support a member of the 
Board or company’s management team to take on the role.  

 
4.3. It is recommended that decisions on the long-term arrangements for Company 

Secretary functions are delayed until later in 2026, allowing time for the company 
and its Board to operate for a period. This will help to ensure that the Shareholder 
Committee makes good decisions based on local circumstances.  

 
5. Appointment of Non-Executive Directors 

 
5.1. The current structure of the Board, as agreed by Cabinet, is a Managing Director, 

Finance Director and up to three Non-Executive Directors (NEDs). Pausing the 

recruitment of a Finance Director will leave four active positions on the Board, 
creating circumstances where voting on key decisions has potential to be tied on 

a 2/2 split, requiring the Chair’s casting vote to be used.  
 

5.2. It is therefore recommended that a role for a fourth Non-Executive Director is 

created, and that the Shareholder Committee appoints into this role. This will add 
additional capacity and experience to the Board and will also support effective 

decision making.  
 

5.3. It is proposed that the NEDs are paid an allowance equivalent to up to £500/day. 

For the purposes of recruitment, it is assumed that each board meeting will 
require two days of input, 12 board meetings per year. This produces an annual 

allowance of up to £12,000. Directors are treated as employees for the purposes 
of taxes on income, therefore both national Insurance and income tax are 
applicable to these payments. However, they are not treated as employees for 

page 58



employment rights legislation.  
 

5.4. Contracts of employment will be drawn up by Fitzgerald HR, ensuring that the 
NEDs are treated appropriately for both employment law and taxation on income.  

 
6. Ensuring specialist skills on the Board 

 

6.1. Composition of the Board should ensure a full range of skills and experience 
which will support strategic oversight and effective governance. Therefore the mix 

of skills on the Board should be linked to the Company’s Strategic Objectives, 
along with wider requirements linked to effective governance and strategic 
management. An initial set of strategic objectives were approved by Cabinet in 

July 2025 and it is within the remit of SHC to amend these objectives as 
necessary.   

 

Strategic Objective Board skills and 
experience  

To deliver services for the Council, striving for ef f iciency 
and continuous improvement 

- Maintaining and improving 
business performance  
- Specialist experience of  Human 

Resources, Corporate 
Communications, business 
strategy and other core corporate 

functions 

To deliver value for money, achieving the shareholder’s 
f inancial objectives 

- Strategic f inancial planning 
- Driving f inancial performance  

  

To pursue commercial strategies which provide a return 
for shareholders and an environmental dividend   

- Delivery of  commercial 

strategies in the context of  local 
government  

To provide high quality employment and skills 
development for local people, and provides local 
economic benef it 

- Supporting employment and 
skills strategies which target 
underrepresented groups 

To support local economic development and contribute 
local value 

- Awareness and experience of  
managing not for prof it and quasi-

commercial organisations to 
deliver local value to communities 
and groups. 

To reduce the direct environmental impact of  operations 

and to improve indirect environmental impacts of  
households and businesses in the area 

- Operation of  local government 
environmental services 

- Application of  climate change 
and environmental improvement 
strategies in commercial context  

To provide an ef f icient and ef fective business model which 
can be expanded to new services and adopted by near 
neighbours and future unitary authorities. 

- Strategic business planning and 

development 

To operate in ways which support EDDCs wider missions 
and values 

- Awareness and experience of  
local government at a strategic 

and senior level 

To plan and deliver services which are aligned with 
changing local needs and national waste policy 

- Awareness of  national waste 

strategy and objectives 
 

page 59



 
 

7. Section 4 – Role Profiles and Criteria for appointment 

7.1. Role profiles for the Non-Executive Directors and Chair are within Appendix A. 

These have been developed by APSE as part of the support they are providing 
for setting up and operating the Company Board.    
 

7.2. It is best practice for LATCo Company Directors to have full independence from 
the Council, reflecting their legal duties to always act in the best interests of the 

Company. Although the objectives and interests of the Company are usually 
aligned with the Council, this is achieved through other governance 
arrangements, in particular by the Shareholder Committee. Therefore, the 

appointment of Directors should ensure that they are able to act independently 
and apply good judgement in all circumstances.  

 

7.3. Bevan Brittan have been consulted and have suggested circumstances which are 
likely to impair a director’s independence. It is therefore proposed that these 

criteria are used in screening of candidates for appointment: 
 

7.3.1. Is or has been an employee of the company or group within the last five 
years. 

7.3.2. Has, or has had within the last three years, a material business 

relationship with the company, either directly or as a partner, shareholder, 
director or senior employee of a body that has such a relationship with the 

company. 
7.3.3. Has received or receives additional remuneration from the company apart 

from a director’s fee, participates in the company’s share option or a 

performance-related pay scheme, or is a member of the company’s 
pension scheme. 

7.3.4. Has close family ties with any of the company’s advisers, directors or 
senior employees. 

7.3.5. Holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other directors 

through involvement in other companies or bodies. 
7.3.6. Represents a significant shareholder. 

7.3.7. Has served on the board for more than nine years from the date of their 
first appointment. 
 

8. Section 5 – Recruitment Process 

8.1. It is proposed to recruit NEDs through an active and open process using both 

local networks and promotion of the roles through the LinkedIn professional 
networking site. Appointments of Directors are controlled by the Shareholder 
Committee, so it is essential that members of the committee are involved 

throughout the selection process.  
 

8.2. The roles will be advertised on the ‘Volunteering and other Opportunities’ and 
recruitment sections of the Council’s website, where the full role profile and 
details will be available, along with the application process. Informal promotion 

through local professional and volunteering networks will help to raise awareness 
of the roles, along with posts through the Council’s social media channels. Initial 

discussions among officers and members have identified several potential 

page 60



candidates who can be approached and asked to consider applying.  
 

8.3. LinkedIn provides an effective way to promote non-executive director roles and is 
used by many professionals with relevant experience. The Council has used 

LinkedIn for targeted recruitment in the past and has an active recruitment page 
on the site. LinkedIn do not offer fixed prices for advertising, costs are based on 
the amount of engagement by potential candidates. It is anticipated that this will 

be less than £1,500 and would only rise above this if there is a lot of interest in 
the roles.  

 
8.4. A panel comprised of three members of the Committee and supported by officers 

will shortlist the candidates and conduct interviews. The panel will select the 

preferred candidates for approval by the Committee. The committee is invited to 
propose members of the recruitment panel.  

 
8.5. The proposed timetable for recruitment is: 

 

Activity Date (estimated) Who? 

Agree roles and 
recruitment plan 

29th January 2026 Shareholder Committee 

Develop promotional 
campaign 

13th February Communications Team 

Advertise Chair role on 
LinkedIn and Council 
Website 

16th Feb to 6th March Communications Team / 
HR 

Shortlist Candidates 11th March Panel of SHC members 
and officers 

Interview Candidates for 
Chair 

20th March Panel of SHC members 
and officers 

Decision to make offer 20th March Panel conducts selection 
exercise and makes 
recommendation to 
Committee for approval 

Offer role and make 
arrangements for formal 
appointment and contract 

27th March EDDC Human Resources 
and LATCo Managing 
Director 

Update of register at 
Companies House 

30th March Bevan Brittan under 
instruction on Monitoring 
Officer/ Managing Director 

Advertise NEDs roles on 
LinkedIn and Council 
Website 

30th March to 17th April Communications Team / 
HR 

Shortlist Candidates 22nd April Panel of Chair, SHC 
members and officers 

Interview Candidates for 
NED roles 

By 1st May Panel of Chair, SHC 
members and officers 

Decision to make offer 1st May Panel conducts selection 
exercise and makes 

page 61



recommendation to 
Committee 

Offer role and make 
arrangements for formal 
appointment and contract 

8th May EDDC Human Resources 
and LATCo Managing 
Director 

Update of register at 
Companies House 

15th May Bevan Brittan under 
instruction on Monitoring 
Officer/ Managing Director 

 

 

Financial implications:  

The details contained in this report appear appropriate and as expected, the appointment of a 
Finance Business Partner is seen as essential and a matter of urgency to progress the setting up 
of the LATCo  

 

Legal implications: 

Bevan Brittan and the Company Secretary appointed by APSE have been heavily involved in the 
drafting of this report.  

  

page 62



Appendix A: Role Profiles 

 

Non-Executive Director - Role Description  

 

Key Responsibilities 

• Strategy: Contribute to developing and shaping the company’s business strategy.  
• Oversight: Monitor executive performance against agreed objectives and hold 

management accountable.  
• Risk Management: Ensure strong risk controls and systems are in place.  

• Financial Integrity: Verify the accuracy of financial information and transparency 
for stakeholders.  

• Governance: Uphold high standards of corporate governance, compliance, and 

ethics. Perform all of the duties of a company director. 
• Appointments: Participate in appointing and planning for executive directors.  

 

Core Functions 

• Independence: Offer an objective, external viewpoint, free from internal biases.  

• Challenge & Support: Act as a "critical friend," asking probing questions to 
challenge assumptions and support sound decisions.  

• Expertise: Bring valuable experience, knowledge, and networks from other 
settings to enrich board discussions. Each appointee having a particular 
background and skills set which aids the board in achieving a rounded 

perspective. 
 

Essential Criteria 

• A strong track record of making effective decisions on significant issues within the 
private, public or voluntary sectors; 

• Excellent communication and stakeholder engagement skills with the ability to 
command the respect of, and to challenge, fellow Board members, staff and senior 

stakeholders in both the public and private sectors. 
• Strong commercial and financial acumen. 
• Strong analytical skills with an ability to get to grips with complex issues. 

 

Desirable Criteria – The composition of the Board must ensure these criteria are 

covered. One NED position will lead on financial strategy and oversight 

• Experience of strategic business planning and development 
• Delivery of commercial strategies in the context of local government  

• Maintaining and improving business performance 
• Strategic financial planning 

• Driving financial performance 
• Operation of local government environmental services 
• Application of climate change and environmental improvement strategies in 

commercial context 
• Awareness and experience of local government at a strategic and senior level  

• Awareness of national waste strategy and objectives 
• Supporting employment and skills strategies which target underrepresented 

groups 

 

page 63

https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&hs=C17o&sca_esv=e1557db837a17fbc&rls=en&biw=1253&bih=1070&aic=0&sxsrf=ANbL-n5Zkyl_zR75Ek1Xonjz3_4FU-KizA%3A1767898486849&q=Strategy&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwin17qKz_yRAxWHYEEAHeXCDpUQxccNegQIQRAB&mstk=AUtExfA3jRfDlG07xIesPcTLgUHtgOsqrx4h3RClwnoVPdd4EtWA0Vaxk5KRRqsupsf8zeqV-J19IgHauHTBsgnZnrYLfC2hogtvpix1pxPgW3ilT0-imOy1mcMDh6RYkyeiuUHX4WdnMRP--TzL6INAsETcVZplezkqK96mp5XaIMMgtblKXSb_5VUmCmdRjSgs4na1B9I8yBo2ebPQiHJ13OKQ_8jBJGLaq9O8vNvXql5TuRZAE6lcz_GPpETcZX_U5IHlVkf-mzJ20PTajdbgEZZD&csui=3
https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&hs=C17o&sca_esv=e1557db837a17fbc&rls=en&biw=1253&bih=1070&aic=0&sxsrf=ANbL-n5Zkyl_zR75Ek1Xonjz3_4FU-KizA%3A1767898486849&q=Oversight&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwin17qKz_yRAxWHYEEAHeXCDpUQxccNegQIQhAB&mstk=AUtExfA3jRfDlG07xIesPcTLgUHtgOsqrx4h3RClwnoVPdd4EtWA0Vaxk5KRRqsupsf8zeqV-J19IgHauHTBsgnZnrYLfC2hogtvpix1pxPgW3ilT0-imOy1mcMDh6RYkyeiuUHX4WdnMRP--TzL6INAsETcVZplezkqK96mp5XaIMMgtblKXSb_5VUmCmdRjSgs4na1B9I8yBo2ebPQiHJ13OKQ_8jBJGLaq9O8vNvXql5TuRZAE6lcz_GPpETcZX_U5IHlVkf-mzJ20PTajdbgEZZD&csui=3
https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&hs=C17o&sca_esv=e1557db837a17fbc&rls=en&biw=1253&bih=1070&aic=0&sxsrf=ANbL-n5Zkyl_zR75Ek1Xonjz3_4FU-KizA%3A1767898486849&q=Risk+Management&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwin17qKz_yRAxWHYEEAHeXCDpUQxccNegUIjAEQAQ&mstk=AUtExfA3jRfDlG07xIesPcTLgUHtgOsqrx4h3RClwnoVPdd4EtWA0Vaxk5KRRqsupsf8zeqV-J19IgHauHTBsgnZnrYLfC2hogtvpix1pxPgW3ilT0-imOy1mcMDh6RYkyeiuUHX4WdnMRP--TzL6INAsETcVZplezkqK96mp5XaIMMgtblKXSb_5VUmCmdRjSgs4na1B9I8yBo2ebPQiHJ13OKQ_8jBJGLaq9O8vNvXql5TuRZAE6lcz_GPpETcZX_U5IHlVkf-mzJ20PTajdbgEZZD&csui=3
https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&hs=C17o&sca_esv=e1557db837a17fbc&rls=en&biw=1253&bih=1070&aic=0&sxsrf=ANbL-n5Zkyl_zR75Ek1Xonjz3_4FU-KizA%3A1767898486849&q=Governance&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwin17qKz_yRAxWHYEEAHeXCDpUQxccNegUIgwEQAQ&mstk=AUtExfA3jRfDlG07xIesPcTLgUHtgOsqrx4h3RClwnoVPdd4EtWA0Vaxk5KRRqsupsf8zeqV-J19IgHauHTBsgnZnrYLfC2hogtvpix1pxPgW3ilT0-imOy1mcMDh6RYkyeiuUHX4WdnMRP--TzL6INAsETcVZplezkqK96mp5XaIMMgtblKXSb_5VUmCmdRjSgs4na1B9I8yBo2ebPQiHJ13OKQ_8jBJGLaq9O8vNvXql5TuRZAE6lcz_GPpETcZX_U5IHlVkf-mzJ20PTajdbgEZZD&csui=3
https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&hs=C17o&sca_esv=e1557db837a17fbc&rls=en&biw=1253&bih=1070&aic=0&sxsrf=ANbL-n5Zkyl_zR75Ek1Xonjz3_4FU-KizA%3A1767898486849&q=Appointments&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwin17qKz_yRAxWHYEEAHeXCDpUQxccNegUIhAEQAQ&mstk=AUtExfA3jRfDlG07xIesPcTLgUHtgOsqrx4h3RClwnoVPdd4EtWA0Vaxk5KRRqsupsf8zeqV-J19IgHauHTBsgnZnrYLfC2hogtvpix1pxPgW3ilT0-imOy1mcMDh6RYkyeiuUHX4WdnMRP--TzL6INAsETcVZplezkqK96mp5XaIMMgtblKXSb_5VUmCmdRjSgs4na1B9I8yBo2ebPQiHJ13OKQ_8jBJGLaq9O8vNvXql5TuRZAE6lcz_GPpETcZX_U5IHlVkf-mzJ20PTajdbgEZZD&csui=3


Chair of the Board of Directors – Role Description 

 

Key Responsibilities 

• Board Leadership: Leading the board, setting agendas, ensuring effective 

meetings, developing board skills, and planning for succession.  
• Strategic Guidance: Working with the Managing Director to set and implement 

strategy, ensuring the company stays focused on its vision and mission.  

• Governance & Oversight: Ensuring compliance, managing conflicts of interest, and 
reviewing board and Managing Director performance.  

• External Representation: Serving as a primary spokesperson and ambassador for 
the company, especially at high levels.  

• Chair – Managing Director Relationship: Building a strong, trusting partnership 

with the Managing Director for effective organisational running.  
 

Meeting Management 

• Planning and running meetings efficiently. 
• Ensuring everyone has a chance to speak and contributing to decision -making. 

• Managing disagreements and facilitating constructive debate.  
 

Core Focus 

• Governance: Ensuring the board functions effectively and remains focused on 
core strategic tasks. 

• Support: Providing support and guidance to the Managing Director. 
• Ambassadorship: Representing the company to stakeholders and externally.  

 

 

 

  

page 64

https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&hs=4z7o&sa=N&sca_esv=e1557db837a17fbc&rls=en&biw=1253&bih=1070&aic=0&sxsrf=ANbL-n4x2qAy7Tnt2d774_4P6M_Vq0eMjw%3A1767894252290&q=Board+Leadership&ved=2ahUKEwjn36Gnv_yRAxXgTEEAHY06LcEQxccNegQILhAB&mstk=AUtExfBJcxKxrKcyxYo7Oxd4EXq4uotzwrPYcVRVX0JHNmz57WdqLg6Ah-clRwp85ATLWNGDSqgZZueK2qqlTqG5TO3WCPJfsuBbLTHDFZAU4CGY1Y_Wsrmivz7cTJrHDa_ennmzdIpQHnOR1WOEAy_QuF0BG7IeMhmXye9FOci_GWVIfz61XDZwxwGspaIA5j0Dp1yHDE2m5W1abdSuZsiCtnka-PxUrzE93A2R-B_HlkaMKGvSV5KwjC1fi8670d8WKGgtN70A4KwGFZybXL1WBUv4&csui=3
https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&hs=4z7o&sa=N&sca_esv=e1557db837a17fbc&rls=en&biw=1253&bih=1070&aic=0&sxsrf=ANbL-n4x2qAy7Tnt2d774_4P6M_Vq0eMjw%3A1767894252290&q=Strategic+Guidance&ved=2ahUKEwjn36Gnv_yRAxXgTEEAHY06LcEQxccNegUIiAEQAQ&mstk=AUtExfBJcxKxrKcyxYo7Oxd4EXq4uotzwrPYcVRVX0JHNmz57WdqLg6Ah-clRwp85ATLWNGDSqgZZueK2qqlTqG5TO3WCPJfsuBbLTHDFZAU4CGY1Y_Wsrmivz7cTJrHDa_ennmzdIpQHnOR1WOEAy_QuF0BG7IeMhmXye9FOci_GWVIfz61XDZwxwGspaIA5j0Dp1yHDE2m5W1abdSuZsiCtnka-PxUrzE93A2R-B_HlkaMKGvSV5KwjC1fi8670d8WKGgtN70A4KwGFZybXL1WBUv4&csui=3
https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&hs=4z7o&sa=N&sca_esv=e1557db837a17fbc&rls=en&biw=1253&bih=1070&aic=0&sxsrf=ANbL-n4x2qAy7Tnt2d774_4P6M_Vq0eMjw%3A1767894252290&q=Governance+%26+Oversight&ved=2ahUKEwjn36Gnv_yRAxXgTEEAHY06LcEQxccNegUIhwEQAQ&mstk=AUtExfBJcxKxrKcyxYo7Oxd4EXq4uotzwrPYcVRVX0JHNmz57WdqLg6Ah-clRwp85ATLWNGDSqgZZueK2qqlTqG5TO3WCPJfsuBbLTHDFZAU4CGY1Y_Wsrmivz7cTJrHDa_ennmzdIpQHnOR1WOEAy_QuF0BG7IeMhmXye9FOci_GWVIfz61XDZwxwGspaIA5j0Dp1yHDE2m5W1abdSuZsiCtnka-PxUrzE93A2R-B_HlkaMKGvSV5KwjC1fi8670d8WKGgtN70A4KwGFZybXL1WBUv4&csui=3


Company Secretary – Role Description 

 

Key Responsibilities 

 

• Corporate Governance: Advising the board on governance, procedures, and 
effective operation; promoting best practice. 

• Board Administration: Organising meetings (AGMs, board/committees), preparing 

agendas, taking minutes, distributing papers, and tracking action points. 
• Statutory Compliance: Filing documents with Companies House (annual returns, 

confirmation statements, officer changes) and ensuring adherence to the 
Companies Act and other laws. 

• Legal & Regulatory Liaison: Acting as a point of contact with lawyers, auditors, 

and regulators; managing statutory registers. 
• Reporting: Preparing annual reports, collating information, and communicating 

decisions to stakeholders. 
• Strategic Support: Providing advice to the Chair and directors on legal, financial, 

and strategic matters.  

 

Essential Skills 

 

• Strong organisational and time management skills. 
• Excellent written and verbal communication. 

• Attention to detail and accuracy. 
• Analytical and numerical skills. 

• Ability to work under pressure and meet deadlines. 
• Diplomacy and negotiation.  

 

 

page 65

https://www.google.com/search?q=Corporate+Governance&client=safari&hs=4z7o&sca_esv=e1557db837a17fbc&rls=en&biw=1253&bih=1070&aic=0&sxsrf=ANbL-n4x2qAy7Tnt2d774_4P6M_Vq0eMjw%3A1767894252290&ei=7Oxfaee5EeCZhbIPjfW0iQw&ved=2ahUKEwjp7Pr6yPyRAxVZTkEAHcroDYYQgK4QegYIAQgAEAk&uact=5&oq=Company+Secretary+%C2%A0job+description&gs_lp=Egxnd3Mtd2l6LXNlcnAiI0NvbXBhbnkgU2VjcmV0YXJ5IMKgam9iIGRlc2NyaXB0aW9uMgQQIxgnMgoQIxiABBgnGIoFMgYQABgHGB4yBhAAGAcYHjIGEAAYBxgeMgYQABgHGB4yBhAAGAcYHjIGEAAYBxgeMgYQABgHGB4yBhAAGAcYHkiRY1DxCVisXHABeAGQAQCYAWugAZoMqgEEMjAuMbgBA8gBAPgBAZgCFqACsQ3CAgoQABiwAxjWBBhHwgIHECMYsAIYJ5gDAIgGAZAGCJIHBDIwLjKgB_2yAbIHBDE5LjK4B6sNwgcEMi0yMsgHX4AIAA&sclient=gws-wiz-serp
https://www.google.com/search?q=Legal+%26+Regulatory+Liaison&client=safari&hs=4z7o&sca_esv=e1557db837a17fbc&rls=en&biw=1253&bih=1070&aic=0&sxsrf=ANbL-n4x2qAy7Tnt2d774_4P6M_Vq0eMjw%3A1767894252290&ei=7Oxfaee5EeCZhbIPjfW0iQw&ved=2ahUKEwjp7Pr6yPyRAxVZTkEAHcroDYYQgK4QegYIAQgAEA4&uact=5&oq=Company+Secretary+%C2%A0job+description&gs_lp=Egxnd3Mtd2l6LXNlcnAiI0NvbXBhbnkgU2VjcmV0YXJ5IMKgam9iIGRlc2NyaXB0aW9uMgQQIxgnMgoQIxiABBgnGIoFMgYQABgHGB4yBhAAGAcYHjIGEAAYBxgeMgYQABgHGB4yBhAAGAcYHjIGEAAYBxgeMgYQABgHGB4yBhAAGAcYHkiRY1DxCVisXHABeAGQAQCYAWugAZoMqgEEMjAuMbgBA8gBAPgBAZgCFqACsQ3CAgoQABiwAxjWBBhHwgIHECMYsAIYJ5gDAIgGAZAGCJIHBDIwLjKgB_2yAbIHBDE5LjK4B6sNwgcEMi0yMsgHX4AIAA&sclient=gws-wiz-serp


eastdevon.gov.uk                  eastdevon

Project Management Update

David Robertson, Project Manager

page 66

A
genda Item

 9



eastdevon.gov.uk                   eastdevon

• Project planning controlled in MS Planner
• Active risk register, issues log, decisions log and Gantt 

chart
• Sharepoint and MS Teams used for detail of planning, 

document control etc

Project 
management 

structures

• Company created, Shareholder Cttee operational and 
temporary Directors and MD appointed. 

• Project Management structures operating effectively and 
work progressing across key workstreams. 

Current 
position

Project Control (old slide)

page 67



eastdevon.gov.uk                   eastdevon

• Achieving fleet maintenance contract procurement in timescale
• Establishing workplace pension provider in time for MD arrival
• Project cost overrun due to workstreams not identified and reliance 

on external advice to augment internal skills and capacity
• Delays in recruiting key staff to the Latco – Finance BP, HR BP, 

Interim Operations Manager

Key risks

• Application for Fleet Operator’s Licence (started)
• Implement procurement strategy for fleet maintenance 
• Develop detailed plan for delivery of Company financial 

arrangements
• Onboard MD and develop plan for full management team structure

Next steps

Project Control 
MB1

page 68



eastdevon.gov.uk                   eastdevon

• Clear project plan, well resourced, within budget. 
Procurement issues are creating risk but are being 
addressed effectively.

• Costs are likely to be below budget, leading to 
headroom. 

IT (Strata)

On target

• Fitzgerald are proceeding well with TUPE planning, 
pensions provision and HR workplan 

• Next steps are recruitment of key personnel to Latco 
and Suez staff consultation 

• Costs may over run due to extended scope to include 
payroll and recruitment

Human 
Resources

On target

Workstreams update
MB1

page 69



eastdevon.gov.uk                   eastdevon

• Planning for procurement activity is developing on 
target. Risk of procurement issues remain but are 
being managed effectively

Fleet planning

On target

• Interim Finance Business Partner has been sourced
• Development of a plan for Finance workstream is 

critical to ensure effective delivery

Finance
At risk, improving

• Company branding is being worked on by an external 
comms agency, proposals will be brought to future 
SHC

Communications
On target

Workstreams update

page 70



eastdevon.gov.uk                   eastdevon

• Engagement remains positive, Suez have 
appointed a demob manager

• Risk of key operational staff staying with 
Suez, leaving skills and knowledge gaps

Suez 
demobilisation

On target

• The company has been set up and has 
strong governance arrangement in place. 
Work is ongoing to develop full governance 
arrangements, training, recruitment of 
Directors etc. 

Company set 
up and 

Governance 
On target

Workstreams update

page 71



eastdevon.gov.uk                   eastdevon

Draft Structure Managing Director

HR Business Partner Operational 
Manager/Fleet

Assistant Manager

Ops Supervisors

Team Leaders

Drivers/Loaders

Business Manager

Operations & Projects 
Officers (x4)

Recycling Officer

Senior Admin

CORE Admin

Recycling & Waste –
Administrative Officer

Depot & MRF Manager
(Assistant Site Manager

MRF Operatives

Weighbridge 
Operative

Health & Safety 
Officer/SHEQ 

Manager/Officer

Finance 
Manager/Accountant

Finance Director 
(0.2)

Existing SUEZ

Existing EDDC

NOT Budgeted

New posts: Budgeted

EDDC CLIENT 
STRUCTURE 

Vacant positions

Assistant Director -
Streetscene

Environmental 
Services Client 

Manager

Client Officer
(to follow)

Draft structure is under review by MD and will be brought to SHC for approval

MB1

page 72



eastdevon.gov.uk                   eastdevon

• Plan B have completed a review of project management 
arrangements and effectiveness

• Key areas to address are finance workstream, 
procurement of new supplier contracts and more robust 
arrangements for Suez demobilisation. These have 
recently been addressed and further focus is needed. 

Project 
Assurance 

Review

• Broad ranging proposal for future support covering key 
workstreams. Most areas are already well resourced and 
would need procurement process to adopt

• Review highlights need for ongoing project assurance, 
which could be delivered by new Programmes and 
Strategies lead at EDDC

Proposal for 
future support

Plan B Project Review

page 73



eastdevon.gov.uk                   eastdevon

Questions?

page 74


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Governance update
	8 Recruitment of Directors for East Devon Environmental Services Ltd
	9 Project update

